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PART I – BUSINESS 

Item 1.  Business 

 
Overview 
 
Golden Haven Memorial Park, Inc. (the “Company”), incorporated in November 1982, is one of 
Philippines’ leading developers of memorial parks in the country in terms of land developed. As of 
December 31, 2016, the Company has a total of eight memorial park projects, covering a gross area of 66.7 
hectares spread across various parts of the Philippines. This includes the first six parks in Las Piñas, Bulacan, 
Cebu, Cagayan de Oro Iloilo, and Zamboanga, and an additional two new parks acquired in Nueva Vizcaya 
and Pampanga.  
 
Aside from the development and sale of memorial parks, the Company likewise develops, constructs and 
operates columbarium facilities. As of December 31, 2016, the Company has four existing columbaries 
within its memorial parks in Las Piñas, Cebu, Cagayan de Oro, and Zamboanga and a stand-alone 
columbarium (the “Ezekiel Columbarium”) located beneath the Sanctuario de San Ezekiel Moreno, a chapel 
constructed by the Company along C5 Road, Pulang Lupa, Las Piñas. As of the date of this filing, the 
company has also opened its first memorial chapel and crematorium facility called the Golden Haven 
Memorial Chapels and Crematorium, located beside Sanctuario de San Ezekiel Moreno in Las Piñas. 
 
The Company maintains its purpose as a developer of ideally located, uniquely designed, and well-
maintained memorial parks, and as a provider of quality private death care services.  The Company believes 
that accessibility is, and remains a key factor in the selection of its locations, and each of the Company’s 
parks is strategically located within a five to 10 kilometer radius from its target communities.  Eschewing 
standardized park designs, the Company’s planners design and develop each memorial park to have its own 
theme, inspired by Mediterranean, Italian, American or Asian architecture and design motifs. Regimented 
maintenance practices also ensure that each memorial park developed by the Company will remain a 
comfortable and peaceful place to visit. 
 
These same criteria of ideal location, unique designs and strict standards of maintenance and upkeep also 
ground the development of the Company’s columbaries and memorial chapel facilities. 
 
On 29 June 2016, the company listed with the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE), at an initial price of P10.52 
per share. As of 29 March 2017, the company’s shares are valued at P16.40 per share. 
 
Recent Developments and Acquisitions 

As of the date of this filing, the Company has completed two major developments – the acquisition of two 
new memorial park projects in Nueva Vizcaya and Pampanga, and the completion of the Golden Haven 
Memorial Chapels and Crematorium in Las Piñas. 

The Golden Haven Nueva Vizcaya Park is a development on a 6.0 hectare property located in Bambang, 
Nueva Vizcaya. The park is designed with a Spanish-Andalusian theme and is meant to cater to an 
underserved local market looking for private memorial park services. The park will have 14,216 lots 
available for sale by the second quarter of 2017. 

The Golden Haven Pampanga Park is an American Heritage themed memorial park located on a 2.2 hectare 
property in San Fernando, Pampanga. Looking to cater to the densely populated cities of San Fernando, 
Mexico, and Angeles, as well as the upcoming Clark Green City, the park has been subdivided into 5,090 
lots, available for sale by the second quarter of 2017. 

The Company also completed construction of its first Memorial Chapel and Crematorium Facility in the 
fourth quarter of 2016. The new Golden Haven Memorial Chapel and Crematorium features 12 
professionally designed memorial chapel viewing rooms, and two brand new cremation machines. The 
facility was launched on March 1, 2017. 



As of the date of this filing, the company has entered into agreements for the acquisition of four properties 
for future memorial park projects, specifically, two properties in Batangas (Bauan and Padre Garcia), and 
one in General Santos City, and a joint venture project in Subic, Zambales. The company aims to complete 
and to open all four projects for sale within the year. 

Products and Services 
 
The death care services market comprises products and services during the period of mourning and grief 
following the death of a loved one. The market generally includes funerary arrangements (care for the 
deceased and cosmetic embalming in preparation for viewing), burial or cremation services, and the sale of 
caskets, urns and memorabilia. 
 
As of the date of this filing, the Company’s key products and services principally consist of the sale of 
memorial lots and columbarium vaults made available to the public through the Company’s developments. 
On March 1, 2017, the Company opened its first memorial chapel and crematorium facility, allowing it to 
expand the services and products it offers to more segments of the death care industry. As of the date this 
filing, the company offers their products and services in the following locations: 
 

The Ezekiel Complex, which houses the Ezekiel Columbarium, and the Golden Haven Memorial 
Chapels and Crematorium 
Golden Haven Las Piñas Park 
Golden Haven Cebu Park 
Golden Haven Cagayan de Oro Park 
Golden Haven Zamboanga Park 
Golden Haven Iloilo Park 
Golden Haven Bulacan Park 
Golden Haven Pampanga Park 
Golden Haven Nueva Vizcaya Park 

 
With the exception of the Golden Haven Cagayan de Oro Park, all of the foregoing developments are 
wholly-owned by the Company. On the other hand, the development of the Golden Haven Cagayan de 
Oro Park has been undertaken through a joint venture with a third-party land owner, under the terms of 
which, the Company retains rights to 70% of the total saleable areas while the joint venture partner receives 
the remaining 30% thereof. 
 
Distribution Methods of Products 
  
The Company relies extensively on third party agents to sell its products and services in the country. As the 
terms of engagement by the Company of these agents is non-exclusive, these agents, in general, may likewise 
offer products and services of the Company’s competitors.  The Company cannot give any assurance that 
these agents will give adequate focus to the Company’s products and services and not favor or give priority 
to any other products these agents may otherwise offer. If a large number of these agents were to reduce 
focus on the Company’s products and services, or otherwise terminate their arrangements with the 
Company, there can be no assurance that the Company would be able to replace these agents in a timely or 
effective manner. 
 
The Company also has limited control over these third party agents and cannot monitor all aspects of their 
work.  With this limited control, the Company cannot give assurance that none of its third party agents will 
make misleading representations and promises on the Company’s products and services, leading to 
customer disputes and damage to the Company’s reputation. 
 
Land Development and Acquisition 
 
Part of the Company’s key strategies is to continue to work on developing existing, undeveloped and 
contiguous land areas of its memorial parks, which would allow it to increase its inventories to meet 



emerging market demand for its products. Development activities will include site preparation, landscaping, 
beautification and other related civil works on the relevant areas intended to make the same suitable for 
further development into memorial park spaces.  
 
As of December 31, 2016, the Company has properties for its developments with a total size of 66.7 
hectares in the following locations: 
 

Las Piñas City 
Cebu 
Cagayan de Oro 
Zamboanga 
Iloilo 
Bulacan 
Pampanga 
Nueva Vizcaya 

 
Likewise, the Company has also completed the acquisition of a 1.3-hectare undeveloped property located 
in the province of Iloilo contiguous to its existing memorial park in the area, the Golden Haven Iloilo Park. 
The Company will develop this area as an additional phase or as an expansion of the Golden Haven Iloilo 
Park. 

Joint ventures 

The Company has grown its land bank primarily through direct purchases. However, the Company has also 
entered into joint venture agreements with land owners or other park developers, specifically for its current 
project in Cagayan de Oro, and a future project in Subic, Zambales. These joint venture arrangements are 
seen to offer certain advantages to the Company, particularly because the Company is not required to pay 
for the land in advance.  The Company's interest in these joint ventures varies depending on the value of 
the land against the estimated development cost.  

Historically, the Company has not experienced any material difficulties in finding joint venture partners to 
supply land and currently does not expect to experience any such difficulties in the future. The Company 
believes that this is due to its strong track record, and the track record of its affiliates, which boasts 
numerous successfully completed projects all over the country, which gives its joint venture partners 
confidence that their specific project will be handled successfully. Further, there is a prevalence of land 
owners in the Philippines who wish to develop their land in a multitude of ways, but who may not have the 
resources, both financial and expertise, to do so. 

The Company's joint venture arrangements typically require the joint venture partner to contribute the land 
to the project, with the Company bearing all costs related to land development, or the continuance thereof, 
and the construction of park facilities. The Company and its joint venture partner then agree on which of 
the resulting subdivided saleable lots will be allocated to the Company and which lots will be allocated to 
the joint venture partner, in accordance with their respective joint venture interests.  

Sales and marketing costs are allocated to both the Company and the joint venture partner, with the joint 
venture agreement specifying a percentage of the contract price for the lots allocated to the joint venture 
partner as the sales and marketing costs (including commissions to brokers) attributable to the sale of such 
lots. However, the Company is responsible for organizing and conducting actual sales and marketing 
activities. 

The joint venture partner is also required to warrant his/her title over the land and, if necessary, to clear 
the land of tenants and informal occupants before the Company commences development work on the 
land. All costs relating to clearing the land of tenants and informal occupants are the responsibility of the 
joint venture partner, although the Company may provide cash advances to cover a portion of these costs, 
which will then be deducted from any sale proceeds attributable to the joint venture partner. 



Business Strategies 
 
The Company aims to continue to pursue its goal of becoming the biggest, fully-integrated death care 
provider in the Philippines. To achieve this objective, key components of the Company’s strategies include: 
 

Expansion of death care facilities by active and strategic acquisitions of land and/or existing death care facilities  
 
Aside from the launch of new sales phases within its existing memorial parks and columbaries, the 
Company intends to continue its strategic expansion throughout the country. This expansion, via land 
acquisitions and the acquisition and re-development of existing memorial parks, will focus on those 
locations or areas where the are real estate projects by affiliate companies have been established, or 
being developed to capitalize on the marketing synergies between the two companies.   
 
With a view to establishing its brand presence in multiple key cities, the Company aims to expand its 
land bank through multiple acquisitions in a diverse set of cities and provinces nationwide. Leveraging 
on its experience and track record in land development, land acquired is expected to vary based on the 
needs of the Company’s target population, the type of services required in the area, or customer (or 
prospective customer) preferences in general. Direct acquisition of raw land or developed property 
remains the preferred means of expansion, with the possibility of entering joint ventures as a secondary 
means of acquisition. 
 
Expansion of death care services to include embalming, cleansing, dressing and cosmetic restoration of the deceased in 
preparation for viewing, and other memorial services 
 
As of the date of this filing, the Company has opened its first memorial chapels and crematorium facility 
within the Ezekiel Complex in Las Piñas. The Las Piñas memorial chapels contain 12 viewing rooms 
of varying sizes, and is leased out to its clients for the traditional wake and viewing period before the 
deceased is buried or cremated. It also looks to offer video memorialization and online streaming 
capabilities to enable on-line participation of the deceased’s relations during religious and other 
memorial ceremonies. The completion of this facility gives the company another possible avenue for 
recurring revenues. 
 
With the completion of this first facility and the opening of future memorial chapel and crematorium 
facilities, the Company is able to offer, in addition to its existing death care products, at-need burial or 
at-need cremation services covering embalming, cleansing, dressing and cosmetic restoration of the 
deceased in preparation for viewing, and other memorial services. The Company believes that by 
offering these expanded services, the Company would be able to simplify and reduce any duress 
experienced by its clients with the death care process. Further, the inclusion of such services in addition 
to its existing death care products enhances the Company’s product and service portfolio, making its 
present and prospective offerings more attractive to its clients. 
 
Expansion of death care products by development of pre-need death care plans and packages 
 
The Company intends to expand its death care product portfolio by developing, by itself or through 
any one or more subsidiaries or affiliaties, planned pre-need death care packages, which would be 
designed to include a mix of the Company’s suite of products, such as memorial lots and funeral 
services (embalming, cleaning, cosmetic restoration and the use of the Company’s chapels during the 
viewing period), the supply of caskets or urns, and cremation or burial services – customized according 
to the client’s preferences.  
 
The inclusion of pre-need death care plans will enable the Company to offer its entire range of products 
before these are actually required, at discounted rates compared to at-need purchases. Such packages 
will also allow clients to customize their requirements and to pay for the relevant products and services 
over an extended payment period.  
 



Brand building and marketing both domestically and internationally  
 

With projects in various cities and provinces, covering Luzon, Visayas and Mindanao, the Company 
plans to undertake aggressive nation-wide marketing and advertising efforts to enhance its brand 
recognition throughout the Philippines and to become the first name and the provider of choice for 
death care products and services. 
 
The Company intends to aggressively promote this position especially to overseas Filipino workers. In 
line with this, the Company intends to increase and strengthen arrangements with international brokers 
and agents who operate in key cities and countries in North America, Europe, the Middle East and 
Asia.   

Site development and construction 
 
Development and Operation of Death Care Facilities 
 
In developing a death care facility, the Company conducts a site evaluation to assess the suitability of a 
property for development into any one type of death care facility, such as a memorial park, a columbarium, 
a crematorium or whether such property is best suited for ancillary services such as memorial chapels. Aside 
from property costs, land access, water and power supply and other infrastructure determine a site’s 
suitability for each type of death care facility. The Company simultaneously conducts a market assessment, 
considering potential market size, the income levels and the presence of established competition in the area. 
 
After a favorable feasibility study, the Company begins the project development process starting with the 
process of securing regulatory approvals and clearances from various government departments, including 
the DENR, the LLDA and, if necessary, the DAR, as well as the local government units having jurisdiction 
over the project area. For more information on the regulations applicable to the Company and its business, 
see the section “Regulatory and Environmental Matters”. 
 
Concurrent with its regulatory compliance efforts, the Company undertakes the process of master planning, 
design and engineering. Golden Haven has its own architects, engineers, and design experts to plan its 
developments, and at present has a technical services team of 20 employees. On occasion, the Company 
may engage third party architects, designers and planners.  Design and architectural and engineering 
development timetables vary by project, depending on its scale and design.  
 
Once a project has received a development permit form the relevant local government unit, the Company 
then applies for a permit to sell from the HLURB to allow the pre-selling of memorial lots and columbarium 
niches. 
 
Land development, landscaping, infrastructure, and construction work for the Company’s projects are all 
contracted out to various independent contractors. Over its history, the Company has utilized a total of 
more than 50 independent contractors, and is not dependent on any single firm or contractor.  
 
As of the date of this filing, the Company believes that it has secured all material licenses, permits, consents 
and registrations from the relevant regulatory authorities which it is required to obtain under applicable law 
to enable it to engage in the development, operation and maintenance of memorial parks and columbaries.  
 
Maintenance Fund 
 
Since the sale of the Company’s memorial lots and columbarium vaults require it to perform certain future 
and perpetual obligations, such as the payment of real estate and any other taxes that may be imposed on 
the memorial park or the columbarium facility, as well as the continuing operation or maintenance thereof, 
the Company has established perpetual care funds or maintenance funds designed to address these future 
and continuing obligations.  
 



In general, the cost of these undertakings (or anticipated cost thereof) is incorporated into the purchase 
price for the memorial lot or the columbarium vault in the form of a one-time maintenance fee, and a 
portion of the proceeds collected from purchasers is then allocated into the relevant maintenance fund. 
Where the sale of the product is by way of installments, this maintenance fee is likewise collected ratably 
from each installment and set aside for such purpose. 
 
The Company’s maintenance funds typically take the form of funds escrowed with, and managed by, a third 
party manager under an escrow and management agreement entered into by the Company for this purpose, 
and the income from such maintenance funds are then used to finance the operating and maintenance costs 
of the applicable death care facility. Under this fund management arrangement: 
 

The Company has no right to amend the fund management arrangements established that may in 
any way reduce or impair the principal of the maintenance fund, or divert income thereof to any 
purpose other than the perpetual care and maintenance of the relevant memorial park or 
columbarium, including expenses for the maintenance and preservation of the scenery, background 
and landscape of its areas, cleaning, pruning and maintenance of the grounds, boundaries, walks, 
roadways and structures. Any release of income from the maintenance fund must be supported by 
receipts, billing statements, statements of account and similar documents evidencing the use of 
such funds for the maintenance and administrative costs of the relevant memorial park or 
columbarium. 
 
The Company has no right or authority to decrease the principal amount of the maintenance fund 
except for major rehabilitation of the relevant memorial park or columbarium as a result of natural 
calamities, fire, earthquake, typhoons, floods, civil war and the like. 
 
The escrow agent and fund manager may, in its sole discretion, invest the maintenance funds into 
the following forms of investments: (i) treasury notes or bills, BSP Certificates of Indebtedness or 
other government securities, bonds or other evidence of indebtedness, the servicing and repayment 
of which are fully guaranteed by the Government, (ii) deposits with the fund manager and other 
banks, and (iii) loans or investments upon the direction of the Company or of a court of competent 
jurisdiction or other competent authority in writing indicating the nature of the transaction, the 
borrower’s or other party’s name, the amount involved and the collateral, if any. 
 
In the event that the income of the maintenance fund for a period is not adequate, the balance of 
any repair and maintenance expenses is then financed directly by the Company. 

 
As of December 31, 2016, the balance of the Company’s maintenance funds in the aggregate amounted to 
P125.8 million. 
 
Contracts with Suppliers 
 
In general, the Company enters into fixed-priced standard form contracts, awarded after a bidding process, 
with its contractors, with the cost of materials included as part of the contract price. Payments are generally 
on a percentage of completion or milestone basis. In each development, contractors are managed and 
evaluated by a project manager, directly employed by the Company. 
 
Project duration from launch to completion for a memorial park project or a columbarium project typically 
takes anywhere from one to two years, depending on the scale and size of the memorial park project or the 
columbarium project. 
 
After completion of a project, the Company then engages independent contractors to operate and maintain 
its memorial parks and columbarium facilities. These contractors customarily provide the security, janitorial, 
gardening and repair and maintenance requirements of each development. The Company engages several 
firms, based on a competitive selection process and for fixed terms or durations, and is not dependent on 
any single provider for each of these various services. 



However, because of the technical and highly-specialized nature of memorial services and cremations, the 
Company restricts the management and operation of its memorial service facilities and its crematorium to 
in-house personnel, rather than rely on contracted or third party personnel.  Each memorial service facility 
or crematorium will have its own manager, accounting and administrative, and customer support staff as 
well as the technical experts providing the services offered.   
 
The Company has likewise standardized its maintenance protocols, including periodic re-planting, 
repainting and other maintenance activities, to which each contractor is expected to conform. 

Research and Development 

While the Company engages in research and development activities focusing on the types of materials and 
designs used for memorial park and memorial chapel developments all over the world, as well as market 
studies on potential locations and new products, and gathering market data on the local customer base, the 
expenses incurred by the Company in connection with these activities are not material. 

The Company’s research and development activities also include organizing regular trips for its operations 
personnel, architects and engineers to various cities in America, Europe, and Asia to enable them to become 
more attuned to high quality developments and latest trends from overseas. 

Insurance 
 
The Company has insurance coverage for its real and personal properties, columbaries and its main office, 
covering fire, lighting, earthquake, typhoon and flood. The Company also maintains motor vehicle 
insurance, and death and total or partial disability for its employees with benefits depending on the 
employee’s position in the Company. However, there is no assurance that the amount of cover will be 
adequate in the event of a covered event or that the insurers will pay in claims promptly and in full. 
 
The Company does not carry any business interruption insurance. 
 
Sales and Marketing 
 
Target Market 
 
The Company believes that purchasers of its memorial lots, niches and eventually, its memorial services, 
are typically heads of households, between 25 to 55 years of age, with a median family income of between 
P75,000 to P100,000, and have generally attained financial stability. 
 
In general, clients purchase the Company’s memorial lots and niches in advance or before the need for such 
products arises.  
 
The Company believes that proximity to the home of a prospective client dictates such client’s decision to 
purchase a death care product or avail of death care services. Accordingly, the Company has built, and it 
will continue to build, death care facilities, products and services in various strategic locations across the 
country. The Company also believes that rising incomes and economic development in the provinces will 
drive demand for its products throughout the Philippines. 
 
Sales and Agency Network 
 
The Company has over 4,000 independent accredited agents organized into more than 150 sales networks 
located nationwide to generate sales of memorial lots and columbarium vaults.   
 
The Company’s agents are compensated solely on a commission basis. Agents are generally not exclusive 
and can offer real estate packages and other product and service offerings, including products and services 
that may compete with those of the Company. 
 



The Company, through its internal marketing and sales organization, manages and monitors the 
performance of its sales teams and individual agents. Aside from the evaluation, training and management 
of the Company’s independent agents, its sales and marketing organization is responsible for market 
evaluations, pricing and credit packages, and the preparation of marketing materials such as fliers and 
brochures.  As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has a total of 35 employees directly responsible 
for its sales and marketing functions. 
 
Pricing and Installment Plans  
 
The price of a memorial lot or niche is location specific and is dependent on several factors, including the 
cost of land, development and construction costs and the estimated operating costs of a memorial park or 
columbarium, pricing of competitors within proximity of the development, income levels of the target 
market, among other considerations.   
 
Selling of prospective memorial parks and niches begin as soon as the Company has completed securing all 
of the necessary government approvals and has completed the preparation of marketing materials. At 
launch, the Company has pre-determined the number of memorial lots or niches to be offered at the launch 
price. Succeeding releases of memorial lots and niches are at increasing prices, depending on market demand 
and the acquisition of any necessary government approval. 
 
Aside from cash purchases, the Company also offers installment plans for its memorial lots and niches 
allowing for monthly payments over a term of between one to five years. Mandatory down payment is 
typically in between 15% to 20% of the purchase price. Monthly amortizations are inclusive of an effective 
interest rate of 6% to 15% per annum depending on the term of the installment plan.   
 
Installment sales are documented through a purchase agreement between the purchaser and the 
Company.  Under these agreements, in the event of a default, the purchaser forfeits all rights to the subject 
memorial park lot or columbarium vault. Any refund, after evaluation and deemed valid, shall be governed 
by the applicable laws at the time of the purchase; otherwise, the Company retains all payments made by 
the purchaser as liquidated damages.  
 
The Company believes that through the combination of its customer selection process, pricing and 
installment plans, it has adequately managed the risk of defaults.   
 
Upon full payment of a memorial lot or the niche, the Company issues to its purchasers a certificate 
evidencing the buyer’s perpetual right to use the memorial lot or the niche, as applicable. 
 
For its memorial chapels and crematorium, the Company charges a fixed daily rate for the lease of its chapel 
viewing rooms. Packages for chapel viewing room lease, inclusive of body preparation and caskets, range 
from PHP 100,000.00 to PHP 350,000.00. 
 
There is also a separate rate applied from cremation services, with rates ranging from PHP 18,000.00 to 
PHP 165,000.00. Booking for these services require a downpayment upon reservation, with balance paid 
upon use. The Company also offers bundled promotional rates that include both chapel viewing room 
lease, and cremation services at discounted rates. 
 
Competition 
 
The Philippine death care industry is fragmented. Companies within the industry provide only segments of 
the death care value chain which covers a range of products and services starting from memorial services 
(inclusive of embalming, cleaning, and cosmetic restoration), memorial chapel spaces leased out for the 
wake period prior to cremation or burial, death care merchandise sales (caskets, urns, keepsakes, 
tombstones, and other similar products), cremation, burial services, to the sale of memorial lots and 
columbarium niches. 
 



Although the Company is unique in its capacity to offer products and services in more than one segment 
of the death care industry, the Company competes against other service providers in various segments of 
the death care value chain. 
 
For the sale of memorial lots, the Company competes against other large developers such as the Manila 
Memorial Parks Group, the Holy Cross Memorial Parks Group, the Eternal Gardens Memorial Parks 
Group and the Forest Lake Memorial Parks Group. 
 
Aside from the foregoing major developers, the Company competes against smaller memorial park 
developers throughout the country. These would typically be family-owned corporations with relatively 
smaller memorial park projects in select provinces. 
 
There are likewise several developers of columbarium projects in the country. The Company believes that 
most of these developers would be single-project companies, typically in Metro Manila and surrounding 
provinces. Several parish churches in Metro Manila have built small columbaries within or adjacent to the 
church compound which are offered to the public. 
 
With respect to memorial services, the Company will compete against several established companies in the 
country, such as St. Peter Chapels, La Funeraria Paz, Loyola Memorial Chapels and the Cosmopolitan 
Memorial Chapels. 
 
Transactions with related parties 
 
Please refer to Item 12 of this report (“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions). 
 
Intellectual Property 
 
The Company owns a variety of intellectual property rights for its brands, including the trade or business 
name “Golden Haven” and the Golden Haven trademark, and has applications for registration of additional 
trademarks, including the Santuario de San Ezekiel Moreno trademark, pending with the Intellectual 
Property office. These trademarks are important in the aggregate because name recognition and exclusivity 
of use are contributing factors to the success of the Company’s developments. 

Regulatory and Environmental Matters 
 
The development of death care facilities such as memorial parks, columbaries and crematory facilities is 
highly complex, and the construction, operation and maintenance thereof are subject to extensive and 
continuing regulation in the Philippines. The following is a discussion of the material Philippine legislation 
governing the death care business, though it does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all laws 
that may apply to the Company, its business and its operations. 
 
As of the date of this filing, the Company believes that it has secured all material licenses, permits, consents 
and registrations from the relevant regulatory authorities that it is required to obtain under applicable law 
to enable it to engage in the development, operation and maintenance of memorial parks and columbaries.  
 
Zoning and Land Use 
 
Death care industry encompasses funeral homes, memorial parks or cemeteries and crematoria. Zoning is 
the delineation or division of a city or municipality into functional zones where only specific land uses are 
allowed.   
 
Local Government Code 
 
Land use may be limited by zoning ordinance enacted by Local Government Units (“LGUs”).  Lands may 
be classified under zoning ordinances as commercial, industrial, residential or agricultural. The appropriate 



Sanggunian Bayan or the Sangguniang Panglungsod has the power to enact integrated zoning ordinances in 
consonance with the approved comprehensive land use plan.  
 
The Sangguniang Bayan or the Sangguniang Panglusod also has the power to regulate the establishment, 
operation, and maintenance of funeral parlors and the burial or cremation of the dead.   
 
Agrarian Reform Law 

 
Under Republic Act No. 6657, otherwise known as the “Comprehensive Agrarian Reform Law of 1988”, 
the approval by the DAR is necessary for the reclassification or conversion of land to non-agricultural use.  
 
National Building Code of the Philippines 

 
Presidential Decree No. 1096, otherwise known as the “National Building Code of the Philippines”, 
establishes the framework of minimum standards and requirements for all buildings and structures by 
guiding, regulating, and controlling their location, site, design, quality of materials, construction, use, 
occupancy, and maintenance, including their environment, utilities, fixtures, equipment, and mechanical 
electrical, and other systems and installations.   

 
A building permit from the Building Official shall be required in all construction, alteration, repair, 
movement, conversion or demolition of any building or structure.   

 
Funeral establishments, memorial parks or cemeteries and crematoria must comply with the pertinent 
provisions of the National Building Code of the Philippines. 
 
Housing and Land Use Regulatory Board 

 
Executive Order No. 648 series of 1981 (“E.O. No. 648”), as amended by Executive Order No. 90, declared 
the HLURB as the planning, regulatory and quasi-judicial instrumentality of the government for land use 
development. HLURB has the power to promulgate zoning and other land use control standards and 
guidelines which shall govern land use plans and zoning ordinances of LGUs. Pursuant to this, HLURB 
enacted rules and regulations for memorial parks or cemeteries and funeral establishments. 

 
Funeral Establishments 

   
HLURB, pursuant to E.O. No. 648, issued the “Implementing Rules and Regulations to Govern the 
Processing of Applications for Locational Clearance of Funeral Establishments” (“IRR for Funeral 
Establishments”) on 10 March 1999. These regulations set out the guidelines for the application of 
locational clearance, design standards and necessary permits for the operation of funeral establishments. 

 
Under the IRR for Funeral Establishments, funeral establishments are classified into three categories: (a) 
Category I - funeral establishments with chapels and embalming facilities and offering funeral services; (b) 
Category II - funeral establishments with chapels and offering funeral services without embalming facilities; 
and (c) Category III - funeral establishments offering only funeral services from the house of the deceased 
to the burial place.  Depending on the category, a funeral establishment may only be established within a 
specific zone. 

 
A locational clearance is required for all proposed funeral establishments.  In addition, all funeral 
establishments must comply with the Code on Sanitation of the Philippines on sanitary permits and sanitary 
requirements for funeral chapels, embalming and dressing room and morgue.   
 
The DOH and the respective LGU shall have the authority to monitor funeral establishments.   
 
 
 
 



Memorial Parks or Cemeteries 
 

HLURB, pursuant to E.O. No. 648, promulgated the “Rules and Regulations for Memorial 
Parks/Cemeteries”. These regulations set out the guidelines for the development and operations of 
proposed and existing memorial parks or cemeteries and define location restrictions, design parameters and 
road specifications.   

 
All memorial parks or cemeteries must be located in areas zoned for cemetery purposes, in accordance with 
the comprehensive land use plan or zoning ordinance, or in the absence thereof, in areas deemed 
appropriate by the HLURB. They shall not be allowed in environmentally critical areas, as defined in 
Presidential Proclamation No. 2146 series of 1981, or on grounds where water table is not higher than four 
and 4.50 meters below ground surface as certified by the National Water Resources Board (“NWRB”). 

 
The LGU concerned must approve the Preliminary Memorial Park or Cemetery Plan and Final Memorial 
Park or Cemetery Plan.  Approval of the Preliminary Memorial Park or Cemetery Plan shall be valid only 
for a period of one hundred eight days from date of approval and may be revalidated once after expiration 
of said period.   

 
The approval of the Final Memorial Park or Cemetery Plan is shown by the issuance of a development 
permit by the LGU concerned. The development permit shall be valid for a period of two years from date 
of issue; however, if physical development is not commenced within said period, the grantee of the permit 
may apply for its revalidation within the next succeeding year. If development permit expires, no 
development shall be allowed unless a new application for approval is filed. 

 
All existing memorial parks or cemeteries, or proposed memorial parks or cemeteries which are being 
developed for perpetual lease or sale of plots and has accomplished at least 20% of the total development, 
must be registered with the HLURB is necessary. The survey returns of the mother title including the 
technical description of each lot (i.e., section and block with number of lots per block in each section of 
the lot), which shall form part of the certificate of lease or deed of sale, shall be registered with the HLURB. 
No owner or dealer shall lease or sell any plot without a license issued by the HLURB. 
 
Crematoria 

 
The Rules and Regulations for Memorial Parks/Cemeteries also set out the minimum requirements for the 
construction of crematoria.  All crematoria must comply with design parameters such as types of rooms, 
design of the smoke stack and crematorium oven temperature.   
 
Code on Sanitation of the Philippines 

 
Presidential Decree No. 856 (“P.D. No. 856”), otherwise known as the “Code on Sanitation of the 
Philippines”, is the consolidation of health laws and regulation on sanitation to ensure that protection and 
promotion of health.  Chapter XXI of P.D. No. 856 covers the disposal of dead persons. The sanitary 
requirements for funeral establishments, memorial parks or cemeteries and crematoria are laid out in the 
Code on Sanitation.  The Regional Health Director, or his duly authorized representative, shall have the 
authority to monitor and implement the sanitary rules and regulations. 

 
The DOH, through Administrative Order No. 2010-0033 (“DAO No. 2010-0033”) issued on 6 December 
2010, has promulgated revised implementing rules and regulations to regulate the practice of embalming. 
Embalmers are required to obtain license from the DOH, which is renewable every three years, before they 
are allowed to practice. DAO No. 2010-033 has also expanded the coverage of communicable diseases, 
which require documentary requirements for the deceased to be transported from the place of death to 
burial or cremation. 
 
 
 
 



Funeral Establishments 
 

Funeral establishments are required to obtain sanitary permit issued by the local health office, which shall 
be valid for one year ending on the last day of December and shall be renewed every first month of the 
year. 
 
Memorial parks or cemeteries 

 
Memorial parks or cemeteries are required to obtain operational clearance issued by the regional health 
director and sanitary permit issued by the local health office.   

 
Crematoria 

 
All crematoria shall submit a feasibility study reviewed by the regional health office and approved by the 
Secretary of Health.  A sanitary permit issued by the local health office shall also be required of all 
crematoria.  The sanitary permit shall be valid for one year ending on the last day of December and shall 
be renewed every first month of the year. 
 
Environmental Laws 
 
Philippine Environmental Impact Statement System 

 
The Philippine Environmental Impact Statement System was established by virtue of Presidential Decree 
No. 1586. Development projects that are classified by law as environmentally critical or projects within 
statutorily defined environmentally critical areas are required to obtain an Environmental Compliance 
Certificate (“ECC”) prior to project construction and operation. Through its regional offices or through 
the Environmental Management Bureau (“EMB”), the DENR determines whether a project is 
environmentally critical or located in an environmentally critical area.  

 
As a prerequisite for the issuance of an ECC, an environmentally critical project is required to submit an 
Environmental Impact Statement (“EIS”) to the EMB while a project in an environmentally critical area is 
generally required to submit an Initial Environmental Examination (“IEE”) to the proper DENR regional 
office, without prejudice to the power of the DENR to require a more detailed EIS. The EIS refers to both 
the document and the environmental impact assessment of a project, including a discussion of direct and 
indirect consequences to human welfare and ecology as well as environmental integrity. The IEE refers to 
the document and the study describing the environmental impact, including mitigation and enhancement 
measures, for projects in environmentally critical areas. 

 
While the terms and conditions of an EIS or an IEE may vary from project to project, at a minimum, they 
contain all relevant information regarding the environmental effects of a project. The entire process of 
organization, administration and assessment of the effects of any project on the quality of the physical, 
biological and socio-economic environment as well as the design of appropriate preventive, mitigating and 
enhancement measures is known as the EIS system. The EIS system successfully culminates in the issuance 
of an ECC.   

 
The ECC is a government certification that (i) the proposed project or undertaking will not cause a 
significant negative environmental impact, (ii) the proponent has complied with all the requirements of the 
EIS system, and (c) the proponent is committed to implement its approved environmental management 
plan in the EIS or, if an IEE was required, that it will comply with the mitigation measures suggested 
therein. The ECC contains specific measures and conditions that the project proponent must undertake 
before and during the operation of a project, and in some cases, during the abandonment phase of the 
project to mitigate identified environmental impact.   

 
Project proponents that prepare an EIS are required to establish an Environmental Guarantee Fund 
(“EGF”) when the ECC is issued to projects determined by the DENR to pose significant public risks to 
life, health, property and the environment.  The EGF is intended to answer for damages caused by such 



projects as well as any rehabilitation and restoration measures. Project proponents that prepare an EIS are 
mandated to include a commitment to establish an Environmental Monitoring Fund (“EMF”) when an 
ECC is eventually issued. The EMF shall be used to support activities of a multi-partite monitoring team 
that will be organized to monitor compliance with the ECC and applicable laws, rules, and regulations. 

 
All development projects, installations and activities that discharge liquid waste into and pose a threat to 
the environment of the Laguna de Bay Region are also required to obtain a discharge permit from the 
Laguna Lake Development Authority. 

 
Memorandum Circular No. 005-14 issued by the EMB on 7 July 2014 provides EMB with the guidelines 
in determining whether a proposal has potential impact to the environment. Criteria used in the 
categorization includes, among others, the likelihood, duration, frequency and magnitude of the potential 
impact as well as the spatial and temporal extent of the projected impact. To facilitate the expedient 
screening, a ready matrix for determining the category in which proposed projects fall is provided.  
Memorial parks or cemeteries with an area of more than five hectares while funeral establishments and 
crematoria with an area of more than one hectare are required to secure an ECC.   
 
Philippine Clean Air Act of 1999 
Republic Act No. 8749, otherwise known as the “Philippine Clean Air Act of 1999”, focuses primarily on 
pollution prevention and provides for a comprehensive management program for air pollution. The law 
bans burning of municipal, biomedical and hazardous waste. However, crematoria are expressly exempt 
from this prohibition.   

 
Consistent with the policies of said law, all planned sources of air pollution that have the potential to emit 
100 tons per year or more of any regulated air pollutant, or when required under the ECC, must secure an 
Authority to Construct from the EMB prior to commencement of construction or modification activities. 
Once new source construction or modification is completed, the source owner shall request the EMB to 
convert to Authority to Construct to Permit to Operate. The Authority to Construct is a one-time permit. 
Permit to Operate is valid for the period specified but not beyond one year from the date of issuance, unless 
sooner suspended or revoked. It may be renewed at least thirty days before its expiration date. 

 
Philippine Clean Water Act of 2004 
Republic Act No. 9275, otherwise known as the “Philippine Clean Water Act of 2004”, focuses primarily 
on water quality management in all water bodies and the abatement and control of pollution from land 
based sources. All owners or operators of facilities that discharge regulated effluents pursuant to this Act 
are required to secure a permit to discharge. The discharge permit shall be the legal authorization granted 
by the DENR to discharge wastewater. 
 
Ecological Solid Waste Management Act  
Republic Act No. 9003, otherwise known as the “Ecological Solid Waste Management Act of 2000”, 
provides the legal framework for the systematic, comprehensive, and ecological solid waste management 
program which shall ensure protection of the public health and the environment. Solid waste management 
is required to be observed by funeral establishments, memorial parks or cemeteries and crematoria, in 
accordance with the Code on Sanitation of the Philippines.  

 
Property Taxation 
 
Real property taxes are payable annually based on the property’s assessed value. The assessed value of 
property and improvements vary depending on the location, use and the nature of the property. Land is 
ordinarily assessed at 20% to 50% of its fair market value; buildings may be assessed at up to 80% of their 
fair market value; and machinery may be assessed at 40% to 80% of its fair market value. Real property 
taxes may not exceed 2% of the assessed value in municipalities and cities within Metro Manila or in other 
chartered cities and 1% in all other areas. An additional special education fund tax of 1% of the assessed 
value of the property is also levied annually. 

 



Employees 
 
The following table provides a breakdown of the Company’s regular employees as of December 31, 2016: 
 

Department Headcount 
Operations  36 
Technical  20 
Administration  42 
              
Total……………………………. 

 
98 

 
The Company has no collective bargaining agreements with its employees and none of its employees belong 
to a labor union. The Company believes its relationships with its employees are generally good. 
 
Considering the expansion of the Company’s memorial park and columbarium projects, and the launch of 
its memorial services and crematorium, the Company expects to increase headcount by five to seven 
employees for each new death care project or facility. The Company does not expect to incur any difficulties 
in the recruitment of these additional employees. 
 
Risks related to the Company’s Business 
 
Existing and prospective competitors in the death care services industry have been increasing, and 
increasing competition may adversely affect the Company’s results of operations and profit 
margins.  
 
The Philippine death care services industry is fragmented and is made up of several non-integrated service 
providers providing pre-need burial packages, memorial service packages and memorial lots or niches. At 
present, the Company believes that it is the only company in the Philippines that is positioned to provide 
the full range of integrated death care services, covering the provision of memorial, crematory and chapel 
services to the sale of death care merchandise, memorial lots and columbarium niches.  
 
Despite this competitive positioning, the Company competes against several major companies in each 
aspect of death care. Some of its competitors have had a longer operating history and higher name 
recognition and there is no assurance that the Company will be a customer’s first choice when death care 
services are required.  Some of the current competitors and new entrants may also offer integrated services 
death care services, reducing the competitive positioning that the Company aims to achieve. 
 
Aside from these major companies, the Company also competes against smaller, typically family-owned 
companies that operate memorial parks and provide other death care services in towns and provinces that 
the Company operates or intends to operate in. These smaller companies can offer death care services at 
substantially lower prices than the Company’s offerings. Given the competition from various industry 
participants, the Company will continuously have to market, promote, and price its products and services 
but there is no assurance that such efforts will be successful. 
 
Any difficulty of the Company in accessing land suitable for memorial parks, columbaries, 
memorial facilities and chapels, at commercially viable rates may adversely affect the Company’s 
expansion and growth plans. 
 
Beyond the sales of its existing and prospective inventory, the Company’s growth and expansion depends 
on future acquisitions of properties appropriate for memorial parks, chapels, columbaries, and memorial 
service facilities at commercially viable prices. Future land acquisition efforts may be adversely affected by 
competition for targeted properties from other death care service providers, as well developers of other 
forms of real estate projects.  There is no assurance that the Company can be successful in acquiring 
properties for its expansion or that the Company can acquire land at costs that will allow the Company to 
achieve the same level of profitability previously enjoyed. 
 



Aside from competition, the ability to acquire lands for expansion can be adversely affected by existing and 
prospective Government policies and rules regarding land use, zoning and conversion. The Company may 
encounter instances where zoning conversion applications from agricultural land to cemetery land, for 
example, may not be granted or may entail time periods or costs that are significantly longer or greater than 
expected. In such situations, the financial position and growth prospects of the Company may adversely be 
affected. 
 
Shifting consumer preferences and the changes in traditions and practices can affect the demand 
for the Company’s death care services.  
  
Increasing demand for the Company’s death care services requires a continuous ability to foresee, recognize 
and adapt to shifting consumer preferences and changes in the traditions, practices and cultural beliefs of 
the market.  For example, a shift from the tradition of using memorial lots to vaults will adversely affect 
the demand for memorial park projects. A shift in the tradition of storing urns in columbarium facilities to 
home storage or spreading of ashes will affect the performance of columbarium projects. Emerging trends, 
such as resomation, cryomation, green burials, among others, may reduce the demand for certain services 
that the Company currently offers. While the Company monitors prevailing market preferences, traditions 
and practices as part of its marketing and product development efforts, there can be no assurance that the 
Company will successfully identify, or adapt to, any such disruptive trends in time. Additionally, the 
emergence of such disruptive trends may require additional investments and costs to allow the Company 
to adapt to these changes, and any such costs may adversely affect the Company’s results of operations and 
profit margins.    
 
The Company relies on third party agents to sell its products and services. 
 
The Company relies extensively on third party agents to sell its products and services in the country. As the 
terms of engagement by the Company of these agents is non-exclusive, these agents, in general, may likewise 
offer products and services of the Company’s competitors.  The Company cannot give any assurance that 
these agents will give adequate focus to the Company’s products and services and not favor or give priority 
to any other products these agents may otherwise offer. If a large number of these agents were to reduce 
focus on the Company’s products and services, or otherwise terminate their arrangements with the 
Company, there can be no assurance that the Company would be able to replace these agents in a timely or 
effective manner. 
 
The Company also has limited control over these third party agents and cannot monitor all aspects of their 
work.  With this limited control, the Company cannot give assurance that none of its third party agents will 
make misleading representations and promises on the Company’s products and services, leading to 
customer disputes and damage to the Company’s reputation. 
 
The Company is exposed to risks associated with its instalment payment arrangements, including 
the risk of customer default.  
 
The Company expects to continue to rely on installment plans for its future revenues. As such, especially 
during periods of economic slowdown, rising inflation or unemployment, the Company’s cash flows may 
be adversely affected by any increase in delayed payments or defaults thereof. While the Company believes 
that it has adequate contractual protection embedded in such installment plans arising from delay or default 
in payment, and while the Company can re-sell the memorial lot of any defaulting customer, there can be 
no assurance that any re-sale can be immediately implemented or the proceeds therefrom immediately 
realized. A rise in delayed payments or defaults can adversely affect the Company’s business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 
 
The Company faces risks associated with certain recent memorial park acquisitions. 
 
As of the date of this filing, the Company has entered into agreements for the acquisition of four properties 
located in General Santos, Batangas, and Subic, with the objective of developing these properties into 
memorial parks with products conforming to the Company’s product and pricing policies. As of the date 



of December 31, 2016, the terms of the sale of certain of the lands which the Company has agreed to 
acquire have not yet been completed. While the Company believes that it has exercised prior due diligence 
in evaluating such acquisitions, there can be no assurance that the Company will not in the future be 
involved in or subject to claims, allegations or suits with respect to the previous business and operations of 
these memorial parks which arose prior to the acquisitions. Should such claims, allegations or suits arise, 
claimants may (rightfully or wrongly) seek redress or compensation for their claims against the Company’s 
present management or assets, and the Company may still be at risk under principles of successor-in-interest 
liability. Despite the fact that the Company has, as part of such acquisitions, provided for indemnities 
against certain liabilities or claims or established other contractual protections, any adverse claim or liability 
could expose the Company to negative publicity, which could have a material adverse effect on its business 
and prospects, financial condition, and results of operations. 
 
The Company faces uncertainties and risks related to its expansion plans. 

 
The Company’s growth is predicated on several initiatives that have been or will be implemented in 2017. 
These strategies include new memorial park developments; the construction and sales of more columbarium 
facilities, the provision of additional facilities for memorial services, and the sale of death care merchandise.  
Each of these initiatives are based on judgements with respect to market demand, competitive actions, land 
acquisition, construction and development costs, access to persons with the expertise to implement these 
initiatives, among others. 
 
The Company faces several risks in the execution of these initiatives; these include overestimated demand 
and sales expectations, actual supply and cost of land for its development, construction cost overruns, the 
timely grant of regulatory approvals and permits, and the performance of the Company’s personnel and 
third party contractors.   If the Company is not able to manage these execution risks, its expansion initiatives 
may fall short of expectations and may adversely affect the Company’s future financial standing and 
profitability. 
 
The Company faces risks relating to its prospective memorial parks and columbaries, chapels and 
memorial service facilities, including risks relating to project cost and completion. 
 
The Company’s principal business is the development and sale of its memorial parks, and the development 
and sale of its columbarium projects.  The Company also anticipates a steady stream of recurring revenues 
and income from services provided by its recently opened crematoriums, chapels and memorial service 
facilities. All these developments involve significant risks, such as the risk that the Company may invest 
significant time and money in a project that may not attract sufficient levels of demand in terms of 
anticipated sales or which may not be commercially viable.  In addition, the time and the costs involved in 
completing the development and construction of these projects can be adversely affected by many factors, 
including shortages of materials, equipment and labor, adverse weather conditions, peso depreciation, 
natural disasters, labor disputes with contractors and subcontractors, accidents, changes in laws or in 
Government priorities and other unforeseen problems or circumstances. Any of these factors could result 
in project delays and cost overruns, which could negatively affect the Company’s margins. Especially in the 
case of revenues recognized from sales of its memorial lots and columbarium projects, project delays may 
also result in sales and resulting profits from a particular development not being recognized in the year in 
which it was originally expected to be recognized, which could adversely affect the Company’s results of 
operations for that year. Further, the failure by the Company to complete construction of a project to its 
planned specifications or schedule may result in contractual liabilities to purchasers and lower returns. The 
Company cannot provide any assurance that such events will not occur in a manner that would materially 
and adversely affect its results of operations or financial condition. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Independent contractors for prospective memorial parks, columbarium projects, crematoriums, 
chapels and memorial service facilities may not always be available, and once hired by the 
Company, may not be able to meet the Company’s quality standards or may not complete projects 
on time and within budget. 
 
The Company relies extensively on independent contractors to provide various services related to the 
development of its prospective memorial parks, columbarium projects, crematoriums, chapels and 
memorial service facilities.  The Company selects independent contractors principally by conducting tenders 
and taking into consideration factors such as the contractors’ experience, its financial and construction 
resources, any previous relationship with the Company, its reputation for quality and its track record. There 
can be no assurance that the Company will be able to find or engage an independent contractor for any 
particular project or find a contractor that is willing to undertake a particular project within the Company’s 
budget, which could result in cost increases or project delays.   
 
Further, although the Company’s personnel actively supervise the work of such independent contractors, 
there can be no assurance that the services rendered by any of its independent contractors will always be 
satisfactory or be consistent with the Company’s requirements and standards for quality. Any of these 
contractors may also experience financial or other difficulties, and shortages or increases in the price of 
construction materials may occur, any of which could delay the completion or increase the cost of certain 
housing and land development projects, and the Company may incur additional costs as a result thereof. 
Any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition 
and results of operations. 
 
Abrupt movements in inflation and yields on investment assets may adversely affect the 
Company’s ability to meet its costs of maintaining its memorial parks and columbaries. 
 
The Company relies on financial budgeting models to set up funds aimed to meet maintenance obligations 
of its memorial parks and columbaries and these models rely on assumptions with respect to sales volumes 
and collections, maintenance costs over time, and returns on the funds’ investment assets.  Significantly 
adverse deviations from these assumptions, such as slower than expected sales volumes, higher costs of 
materials and labour, the occurrence of natural disasters, fire and other similar events, and the yields on the 
investment funds assets, can make actual returns generated by investment funds insufficient to meet the 
Company’s maintenance obligations.  Such situations will reduce the Company’s profits and cash flow in 
the future. 
 
Compliance with environmental, health, safety and other government regulations and costs 
associated therewith may adversely affect the Company’s results of operations or profit margins. 
 
The Company’s operations require compliance with government environmental, health, safety and other 
regulations and the procurement of various approvals, permits and licences from certain government 
agencies.  For example, before any of the Company’s properties may be fully developed into memorial 
parks or columbarium facilities, such development must have complied with pertinent regulations relating 
to, among others, land conversion, zoning and environmental clearances from the Housing and Land Use 
Regulatory Board (“HLURB”), the Laguna Lake Development Authority (“LLDA”), Department of 
Natural Resources (“DENR”), Department of Agrarian Reform (“DAR”) and Department of Health 
(“DOH”), and other local government agencies. Other death care services, on the other hand, require 
periodic approvals, registrations and reportorial compliance with the DOH. The Company has incurred 
and will continue to incur costs and expenses to comply with such laws and regulations. Violations of these 
laws or regulations could result in regulatory actions with substantial penalties and there can be no assurance 
that the Company will not become involved in future litigation or other proceedings or be held responsible 
in any such future litigation or proceedings relating to environmental, health and safety matters, the costs 
of which could be material. In addition, any significant change in such laws or regulations or their 
interpretation, or the introduction of higher standards or more stringent laws or regulations could result in 
increased compliance costs or capital expenditures and can have adverse effects on the Company’s 
profitability and growth prospects. 
 



A substantial portion of the lands forming part of Golden Haven Iloilo Park are presently subject 
of land use conversion proceedings which, if adversely decided, may prevent the Company from 
using or continuing to use such lands as memorial park lots. 
 
Several parcels of land forming part of the Company’s Golden Haven Iloilo Park, with an aggregate land 
area of approximately five hectares and which were previously classified as agricultural lands, are presently 
subject of land use conversion proceedings initiated by the Company (or at its instance) with the DAR.  
 
Under prevailing law, the approval by the DAR is necessary for the reclassification or conversion of the use 
of lands from agricultural to non-agricultural use. Otherwise, developers of lands previously classified as 
agricultural lands may be made subject to sanctions imposed by the DAR and may be prevented from 
undertaking any non-agricultural activities on such lands. 
 
The Company believes that the application for the land use conversion over the relevant lands forming part 
of the Golden Haven Iloilo Park will be approved by the DAR in due course, considering that such lands 
have long been re-classified and rezoned for non-agricultural purposes by the applicable legislative bodies 
of the relevant local government units. Further, as of the date of this filing, the Company holds all the 
requisite permits to develop and sell such lands as memorial park lots (including the development permit 
from the local governments of Iloilo and the permit to sell from the HLURB). 
 
Nevertheless, in the event that the application for the land use conversion over the relevant lands forming 
part of the Golden Haven Iloilo Park is denied or otherwise disapproved by the DAR, the Company may 
be exposed to sanctions imposed by the DAR and may be prevented from undertaking (or continuing to 
undertake) its development activities within the affected area of the Golden Haven Iloilo Park, either of 
which, in turn, may adversely affect the Company’s results of operations, business and financial 
performance. 
 
Certain of the lands used by the Company for its memorial park lots remain titled in the names of 
the previous owners thereof. 
 
The Company’s key properties include its lands (raw and partially developed) designated or undergoing 
development into death care facilities such as memorial parks and columbaries, as well as those lands where 
existing death care facilities have been built or located.  
 
Certain of such lands, including those used or otherwise underlying its existing memorial parks, remain 
registered in the names of the previous owners thereof despite the completion of the sale to and purchase 
by the Company of title to and ownership thereof, as evidenced by duly executed and fully-consummated 
deeds of sale executed with such previous owners. As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has 
initiated or is otherwise in the process of completing all administrative procedures necessary for the 
cancellation of the prior certificates of title covering such lands and the issuance of new certificates of title 
over the same properties in the name of the Company. 
 
Under Philippine law, the certificates of title issued by the Register of Deeds issued over registered lands 
comprises the best evidence of ownership over such land, and third persons who may otherwise deal or 
transact with such lands are entitled to rely on such certificates of title. Since the relevant lands have not 
been registered in the name of the Company, it is therefore possible that third persons who hold claims 
against the previous owners of such lands may seek to enforce their claims against such previous owners 
against such lands to the extent the latter remain registered in the names of such persons.  
 
The Company believes that the registration of its acquisition of the relevant lands will be completed in due 
course, and that the risk that the relevant Registers of Deeds will deny such formal registration or that third 
persons would be able to make claims against such lands is low, considering that the purchase thereof has 
been adequately documented, all taxes, charges or fees for which the Company is liable applicable to or 
arising from such purchase have been paid or otherwise accounted for, and the Company presently holds 
the original owners’ duplicates of title covering such lands. Nevertheless, if such registration is denied or 



interested third persons successfully enforce their claims against such lands, the Company’s current and 
prospective operations, its business and financial performance may be adversely affected. 
 
Natural disasters such as typhoons, floods, tsunamis, earthquakes, volcanic eruptions and fire 
could damage the Company’s properties and severely hamper operations.  
 
The Company’s memorial parks, columbarium facilities, and other death care facilities may be exposed to 
occurrences of natural disasters such as typhoons, floods, earthquakes, volcanic eruptions and fire which 
could inflict extensive property damage and disrupt operations. The value and attractiveness of memorial 
parks or columbarium facilities, for example, may be damaged by the occurrence of extremely destructive 
natural disasters and will adversely affect the Company’s business and financial performance.      
 
The Company’s performance depends on the performance of key personnel and the ability to 
recruit qualified personnel.  
 
The Company’s performance significantly depends upon the continued contributions of its executive 
officers and key employees, both individually and as a group, and the Company’s ability to retain and 
motivate them.  The Company’s directors and members of its senior management have been an integral 
part of its success, and the experience, knowledge, business relationships and expertise that would be lost 
should any such persons depart could be difficult to replace and may result in a decrease in the Company’s 
operating efficiency and financial performance. While the Company believes that it has provided its 
directors and key senior management with generous compensation, a highly skilled and reputable executive 
is always subject to piracy by competitors. If its directors or key management officers are not retained or if 
suitable replacements are not recruited, the Company’s current and prospective operations, and ultimately 
its financial performance, may be adversely affected. 
 
The investment assets of the Company’s maintenance funds may not be sufficient to cover future 
death care services costs, specifically, the costs of operation and maintenance of the Company’s 
memorial parks and columbaries, or such investment assets may suffer significant losses or 
experience sharp declines in their returns, which would have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s results of operations and its ability to discharge its obligations under sold funeral 
services packages and to properly maintain its memorial parks or columbaries.  
 
Part of the Company’s business involves discharging ongoing or future obligations, such as maintaining its 
memorial parks and columbarium facilities. To discharge these obligations, the Company has engaged 
professional fund managers to maintain and manage its maintenance funds that can only be utilized for 
such specific purposes. As of December 31, 2017, the aggregate balance of the Company’s maintenance 
funds was P 125.8 million. 
 
These investments are subject to inherent investment risks, and there is no assurance that the investments 
will not suffer losses in the future, or that the return on the investments will be sufficient to cover future 
cemetery and columbarium facilities maintenance costs. 
 
Realized losses on the maintenance funds are recorded as other losses in the Company’s statements on 
profit and loss and therefore would have a direct impact on its profits for the year. In addition, as these 
funds are maintained to discharge the Company’s obligations of maintaining its memorial parks and 
columbaries, significant losses on these funds may result in insufficient funds for these purposes. 
Maintenance funds may fail to yield adequate returns to support the maintenance of the applicable cemetery 
using income of the fund. In such event, the Company may be required to cover any such shortfall using 
its cash resources, which may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s liquidity. 
 
The Company’s major shareholder could affect matters concerning the Company. 
 
Fine Properties, the parent company of Golden Haven continues to hold a substantial majority of the 
Company’s outstanding voting stock, including the Common Shares. As a result, the Company’s principal 
shareholder will be able to significantly affect the outcome of any shareholder voting, including the election 



of directors or most other corporate actions which require a vote by a corporation’s shareholders, thereby 
affecting matters concerning the Company. The interest of the Company’s major shareholder may not 
necessarily be aligned with those of minority shareholders of the Company, and Fine Properties is not under 
any legal obligation to exercise its rights as a shareholder in the Company in the Company’s best interests 
or the best interests of the Company’s other shareholders. If the interests of Fine Properties conflict with 
the interests of the Company, the Company could be disadvantaged by the actions that Fine Properties 
chooses to pursue. 
 
Working Capital 
 
The Company finances its working capital requirements mostly through a combination of internally-
generated cash, pre-selling, joint ventures, borrowings and proceeds from investment properties. 
 
 
Item 2.  Properties 
 
The Company’s key properties consist of its lands (raw and partially-developed) designated or undergoing 
development into death care facilities, its death care facilities such as its memorial parks and columbaries 
(existing and under construction) and its inventory of the memorial lots and/or columbarium vaults 
available for sale to the public. Except as otherwise discussed in this filing, the Company holds legal and/or 
beneficial title to each of its existing death care facilities, including the land on which such death facilities 
have been built or are intended to be built.  
 
As of December 31, 2016, the Company has a total of six operational memorial parks with details 
summarized in the table below: 
 

* Lands allocated for the Golden Haven Zamboanga Park Expansion are presently being acquired by the Company. 
 
As of December 31, 2016, the Company completed the acquisition of a six-hectare memorial park in 
Bambang, Nueva Vizcaya and a 2.2-hectare memorial park in San Fernando, Pampanga. Summary 
information on these acquired properties is as follows: 
 

Name Location Land Area 
(hectares) 

Golden Haven Nueva Vizcaya Park Bambang, Nueva Vizcaya 6.0 
Golden Haven Pampanga Park San Fernando. Pampanga 2.2 

 

 
Project 
Name 

Location  
Land Area 
(Hectares) 

Total No. of 
Sellable Lots 

Golden Haven Las Piñas 
Park 

C5 Road Pulang Lupa, Las 
Piñas 12.15 31,418 

Golden Haven Cebu Park 
 Brgy. Binaliw 1, Tambalan 

Hills, Cebu 

6.79 11,768 

Golden Haven Cebu Park 
Expansion 6.53 12,460 

Golden Haven Cagayan de 
Oro Park 

Macapagal Road, Bulua 
Heights, CDO 10.57 15,053 

Golden Haven Zamboanga 
Park 
 Ma. Clara Lobregat Highway, 

Boalan, Zamboanga 

5.50 10,389 

Golden Haven Zamboanga 
Park Expansion* 3.20 7,583 

Golden Haven Iloilo Park Brgy. San Jose, San Miguel, 
Iloilo 7.30 15,005 

Golden Haven Bulacan Park Sitio Compara, San Mateo, 
Norzagaray, Bulacan 4.44 10,741 

TOTAL   55.18 114,417 



In addition, as of the date of this filing, the Company entered into agreements for the purchase and/or 
development of four properties for future memorial park projects. Summary information on these 
properties is as follows: 
 

Name Location Land Area (Hectares) 

Golden Haven General Santos General Santos 11.69 
Golden Haven Bauan Bauan, Batangas 3.96 
Golden Haven Padre Garcia Padre Garcia, Batangas 3.68 
Golden Haven Subic Subic, Zambales 4.81 

 
 
As of the date of this filing, the Company has made initial payments to the respective sellers of the foregoing 
properties to enable the Company to take immediate possession thereof and commence its development 
activities. However, until full payment of the purchase price for each property, title to the underlying lands 
as well as the memorial parks and lots themselves will remain with the respective sellers. 
 
As of December 31, 2016, the Company has a total of five columbarium facilities with details summarized 
in the table below: 
 

Location Levels No. of 
Vaults 

Offered  

Ezekiel Columbarium 8 14,449 
Golden Haven Las Piñas Park 5 1,095 
Golden Haven Cebu Park 5 1,024 
Golden Haven Cagayan de Oro Park 6 736 

Golden Haven Zamboanga Park 5 437 
 
Notwithstanding the sale of any of its memorial lots or columbarium vaults, title thereto is retained by the 
Company and a purchaser only receives certificates evidencing his or her perpetual right to use the memorial 
lot or columbarium vault. This perpetual right, however, may be transferred to any person designated by 
the original purchaser subject to compliance with the Company’s procedures and regulations regarding such 
transfers. 
 
Certain of the lands forming part of the Golden Haven Las Piñas Park and Golden Haven Cebu Park are 
subject to encumbrances, including rights of way and public easements granted to third parties including 
the Government. The Company believes that none of such encumbrances, rights of way or public 
easements materially affect its title to or ownership of the relevant lands, or the value thereof.  
 
In addition, certain lands held by the Company remain registered in the names of the previous owners 
thereof. However, as of the date of this filing, ownership over such lands has been acquired by the Company 
via duly executed and fully-consummated deeds of sale executed with such prior owners, and each such 
purchase has been either annotated, in the process of being annotated on the relevant certificates of title 
covering such lands or proceedings for the cancellation of the prior certificate of title and the issuance of a 
new certificate of title in the name of the Company have been initiated. 
 
 
Item 3.  Legal Proceedings 
  
As of the date of this Prospectus, several parcels of land forming part of the Company’s Golden Haven 
Iloilo Park, with an aggregate land area of approximately five hectares and which were previously classified 
as agricultural lands, are presently subject of land use conversion proceedings initiated by the Company (or 
at its instance) with the DAR.  



The application for land use conversion was submitted by the previous owners of the land (who remain the 
registered owners thereof), and covers six parcels of land with an aggregate land area of approximately five 
hectares, all located and forming part of the Golden Haven Iloilo Park, as follows: 
 

Lot No. Title No. Area Applied for 
Conversion 

69-D T-18886 0.1248
4-B T-213822 0.5482

1043-B T-205191 0.9729
1036-B T-205195 1.9325
1055 T-11185 0.7834
1044 T-25808 0.6382

Total 5.0000
 
Under prevailing law, the approval by the DAR is necessary for the reclassification or conversion of the use 
of lands from agricultural to non-agricultural use. Otherwise, developers of lands previously classified as 
agricultural lands may be made subject to sanctions imposed by the DAR and may be prevented from 
undertaking any non-agricultural activities on such lands. 
 
The Company believes that the application for the land use conversion over the relevant lands forming part 
of the Golden Haven Iloilo Park will be approved by the DAR in due course, considering that such lands 
have long been re-classified and rezoned for non-agricultural purposes by the applicable legislative bodies 
of the relevant local government units. Further, as of the date of this filing, the Company holds all the 
requisite permits to develop and sell such lands as memorial park lots (including the development permit 
from the local governments of Iloilo and the permit to sell from the HLURB). 
 
Nevertheless, in the event that the application for the land use conversion over the relevant lands forming 
part of the Golden Haven Iloilo Park is denied or otherwise disapproved by the DAR, the Company may 
be exposed to sanctions imposed by the DAR and may be prevented from undertaking (or continuing to 
undertake) its development activities within the affected area of the Golden Haven Iloilo Park, either of 
which, in turn, may adversely affect the Company’s results of operations, business and financial 
performance. 
 
Other than the foregoing, the Company is not involved in, or the subject of any legal proceedings which, 
if determined adversely against the Company, would have a material effect on its business, operations or 
financial standing. 
 
 
Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 
 
There was no matter submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2016. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



PART II – OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Item 5.  Market for Issuer’s Common Equity and Related Stockholders Matters 

 
Market Information 
 
Registrant’s common shares are listed with the Philippine Stock Exchange.  The Registrant was listed on 
June 29, 2016. 
 

  2016 
Quarter High Low Close

1st - - -
2nd 20.30 15.74 20.30
3rd 19.20 13.68 13.98
4th 17.00 12.52 17.00

 
The market capitalization of HVN as of December 31, 2016 based on the closing price of P17.00/share on 
December 29, 2016, the last trading date for the fourth quarter of 2016, was approximately P8.4 billion. 
 
There are no events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the company, 
including any default or acceleration of an obligation. 
 
Common 
There are approximately 14 holders of common equity security of the Company as of December 31, 2016 
(based on the number of accounts registered with the Stock Transfer Agent).  The following are the holders 
of the common securities of the Company: 
 

  Name No. of Shares Percentage 

1 FINE PROPERTIES, INC. 1 412,057,800  83.39%
2 PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION (FILIPINO ) 74,077,647  14.99%
3 JERRY M. NAVARETTE 1  2,835,000  0.57%
4 MARIBETH C. TOLENTINO1 2,835,000  0.57%
5 JOY J. FERNANDEZ1 2,268,000  0.46%
6 PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION (NON-FILIPINO)  34,500  0.01%
7 MYRA P. VILLANUEVA 4,300  0.00%
8 MYRNA P. VILLANUEVA  2,300  0.00%
9 MA. CRISTINA S. CUSTODIO  2,000  0.00%

10 CYNTHIA MARIE S. DELFIN1  500  0.00%
11 FRANCES ROSALIE T. COLOMA1  500  0.00%
12 JOSELITO C. HERRERA 100  0.00%
13 ANA MARIE V. PAGSIBIGAN1  1  0.00%
14 GARTH F. CASTAÑEDA1  1  0.00%

 
TOTAL OUTSTANDING ISSUED AND SUBSCRIBED 
(COMMON) 494,117,649 100.00%

1 lodged under PCD Nominee Corp. (Filipino) 
 
Dividend Policy 
 
Under the Corporation Code, the Company’s shareholders are entitled to receive a proportionate share in 
cash dividends that may be declared by the Board out of the surplus profits derived from operations. The 
same right exists with respect to a stock dividend declaration, the declaration of which is subject to the 
approval of shareholders representing at least two-thirds of the outstanding capital stock entitled to vote. 
 
The amount of dividends to be declared will depend on the profits, investment requirements and capital 
expenditures at that time. 



 
As of December 31, 2016, the Company has not defined a minimum percentage of net earnings to be 
distributed to its common shareholders. Dividends may be declared only from the Company’s unrestricted 
retained earnings, except when, among others: (i) justified by definite corporate expansion, or (ii) when the 
Company is prohibited under any loan agreement with any financial institution or creditor, whether local 
or foreign, from declaring dividends without its consent, and such consent has not been secured, or (iii) 
when it can be clearly shown that the retention of earnings is necessary under special circumstances 
obtaining in the Company, its assets and operations, such as when there is a need for special reserves for 
probable contingencies. 
 
Record Date 

Pursuant to existing Philippine SEC rules, cash dividends declared by a company must have a record date 
not less than 10, nor more than 30 days from the date the cash dividends are declared. With respect to stock 
dividends, the record date is to be not less than 10 or more than 30 days from the date of shareholder 
approval, provided however, that the set record date is not to be less than 10 trading days from receipt by 
the PSE of the notice of declaration of stock dividend. In the event that a stock dividend is declared in 
connection with an increase in authorized capital stock, the corresponding record date is to be fixed by the 
Philippine SEC. 

Dividends 
 
On 29 December 2015, the Board declared cash dividends in the amount of P800 million. On 8 March 
2016, the Board, with the approval of the Company’s shareholders representing two-thirds of its 
outstanding capital stock in a special meeting duly called for the purpose and held on the same date, declared 
stock dividends in the amount of P400 million.  
 
Other than the foregoing, the Company has not declared dividends in any form since the time of its 
incorporation. 
 
Recent Sale Of Unregistered Or Exempt Securities Including Recent Issuance Of Securities 
Constituting An Exempt Transaction 
 
None. 
 
Stock Options 
 
None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Item 6.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation 
 
 
REVIEW OF YEAR-END 2016 VS YEAR-END 2015 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 

Revenues 
 
Real estate sales 
The company recorded P772.08 million in real estate sales for the year-end 2016, a 19% increase from 
P 650.80 million from the same period in 2015. The growth was mainly attributable to the increase of 
sales of columbarium vaults and memorial lots. 
 
Costs and Expenses 
 
Costs of sales and services 
The 13% increase in cost of sales and services, to P 332.17 million in year-end 2016 from  
P293.15 million in year-end 2015, was due to the increase of sales and services rendered during the 
year. 
 
Other operating expenses 
An increase of 21% in other operating expenses, to P247.67 million in year-end 2016 from  
P203.97 million in year-end of 2015 was mainly due to the following: 
 

Increase in salaries and wages from P44.71 million in year-end 2015 to P54.17 million in year-
end 2016 due mostly to an increase in manpower hired by the company due to the expansion 
to new areas 
 
Increase in prompt payment discount from P10.95 million in year-end 2015 to P25.78 million 
in year-end 2016 due to the increase in the buyers that qualified for the prompt payment 
discount for the year. 
 
Increase in commission from P50.58 million in year-end 2015 to P52.35million in year-end 
2016 due to the higher sales for the year. 
 

Other Income – Net 
 
Other income – net increased by 11%, to P 22.9 million in year-end 2016 from P 20.65 million in 
year-end 2015. This was due to a parallel increase in sales forfeitures and other fees normally brought 
about by the higher sales recorded for year-end 2016 compared to year-end 2015. 
 
Tax Expense 
 
The Company’s tax expense increased by 19%, to P77.46 million for year-end 2016 from  
P65.22 million for year-end 2015. This was attributable to the higher taxable income base in year-end 
2016 compared to the same period from the previous year. 

 
Net Income 
 
As a result of the movements above, total net profits increased by 19%, to P180.22 million from  
P151.12 million recorded in year-end 2015. 

 
For the year-end 2016, there were no seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial 
condition or results of the operations of the Company. Neither were there any trends, events, or 



uncertainties that have had or are reasonably expected to have a material impact on the net sales or 
revenues or income from continuing operations. The Company is not aware of events that will cause a 
material change in the relationship between the costs and the revenues.  
 
There are no significant elements of income or loss, which arise from the Company’s continuing 
operations. 

 
 
FINANCIAL CONDITION 
 
As of December 31, 2016 vs. December 31, 2015 
 
As of December 31, 2016, total assets totaled to P 2,877.91 million, increased by 61% from  
P 1,787.10 million recorded as of December 31, 2015, due to the following: 

 
Cash and cash equivalents increased by 289%, from P 114.64 million as of December 31, 2015 to  
P445.95 million as of December 31, 2016, mainly due to the proceeds the initial public offering 
done during the second quarter of 2016 and proceeds from a loan. 
 
Total contracts receivable, including non-current, increased by 17% from P 1,274.10 million as of 
December 31, 2015 to P 1,495.77 million as of December 31, 2016 due to higher sales on account 
recorded. 
 
Other current assets decreased by 32%, from P 14.35 million as of December 31, 2015 to 
P 9.76 million as of December 31, 2016 due mostly to decrease in prepaid expenses and deferred 
input VAT for the year.  
 
Memorial lot inventories increased by 58%, from P 217.77 million as of December 31, 2015 to  
P 344.99 million as of December 31, 2016 due to active opening and expansion of Company 
projects. 
 
Property and equipment increased by 473%, from P 24.79 million as of December 31, 2015 to  
P 141.97 million as of December 31, 2016 due to the on-going construction of the Chapel and 
Crematorium amounting to P114.2 million classified as property, plant and equipment. 
 
Investment properties increased by 547%, from P 41.33 million as of December 31, 2015 to  
P 267.31 million as of December 31, 2016 due to the acquisitions of investment properties for 
expansion projects. 

 
The total liabilities of the Company increased by 15%, from P 1,352.44 million as of December 31, 2015 
to P 1,559.86 million as of December 31, 2016, due to the following: 

 
Interest-bearing loans, including non-current portion, increased by P 491.30 million, from  
P 9.02 million as of December 31, 2015 to P 500.31 million as of December 31, 2016 mainly due 
to a loan obtained from a local bank during the year. 
 
Trade and other payables increased by 47% from P 234.22 million as of December 31, 2015 to  
P344.70 million as of December 31, 2016 due to increase in trade payables as part of the expansion 
program. 
 
Rawland payable increased by 540% from P30.02 million as of December 31, 2015 to P192.06 
million as of December 31, 2016 due to acquisition of land on account as part of the Company’s 
expansion roll out. 
 



Customers’ deposits increased by 92% from P 5.93 million as of December 31, 2015 to P 11.40 
million as of December 31, 2016 due to an increase in sales over the time period. 
 
Dividends payable decreased by 100% from P 650.00 million as of December 31, 2015 to nil as 
of December 31, 2016 due to full payment of the cash dividends in the second quarter of 2016. 
 
Income tax payable decreased by 25% from P 14.96 million as of December 31, 2015 to P 11.28 
million as of December 31, 2016 due to settlements for the year. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities (net) increased by 18% from P 255.98 million as of December 31, 2015 to  
P 301.89 million as of December 31, 2016 due to the increase in temporary difference during the 
year. 
 
Retirement benefit obligation of P0.08 million as of December 31, 2015 was reversed and was 
recorded as a retirement benefit asset of P0.05 million as of December 31, 2016 due to actuarial 
adjustments. 
 
Reserve for perpetual care increased by 30% from P 152.25 million as of December 31, 2015 to  
P198.26 million as of December 31, 2016 due to higher sales on account recorded for the period 
within which the fund for those sales are yet to be remitted to the trustee. 
 

Total stockholder’s equity increased by P 883.37 million from P 434.66 million as of December 31, 2015 
to P 1,318.02 million as of December 31, 2016, due to the following: 

 
Increase in capital stock by P 474.12 million, from P 20.00 million as of December 31, 2015, to 
P 494.12 million as of December 31, 2016, due primarily to the issuance of common stock as part 
of the stock dividends declared and the initial public offering made during the year. 
 
Increase in Additional Paid-in Capital from nil as of December 31, 2015 to P 628.93 million as of 
December 31, 2016 due to the issuance of new shares above par value during the initial public 
offering. 
 
Decrease in retained earnings from P417.19 million in December 31, 2015, to P 197.38 million as 
of December 31, 2016, due mainly to the declaration of cash and stock dividends. 

 
Considered as the top five key performance indicators of the Company for the period as shown below: 
 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2016 2015
Liquidity:     
    Current Ratio Current Assets/Current Liability 2.65 :1 0.95 : 1
Solvency:     
    Debt-to-Equity Ratio Total Debt/Total Equity 0.38 :1 0.02 : 1
Asset-to-equity:     
    Asset-to-Equity ratio Total Assets/Total Equity 2.18 :1 4.11 : 1
      
Interest-rate-coverage:     

    Interest-rate-coverage ratio 
Profit Before Tax and 
Interest/Finance Costs 10.88 : 1 68.89 : 1

 
Profitability:     
    Return-on-equity Net Income/Equity 13.67% 34.77%

 
 



Material Changes to the Company’s Statement of Financial Position as of December 31, 2016 
compared to December 31, 2015 (increase/decrease of 5% or more) 
 

Cash and cash equivalents increased by 289%, from P 114.64 million as of December 31, 2015 to  
P445.95 million as of December 31, 2016, mainly due to the proceeds the initial public offering 
done during the second quarter of 2016 and proceeds from a loan. 
 
Total contracts receivable, including non-current, increased by 17% from P 1,274.10 million as of 
December 31, 2015 to P 1,495.77 million as of December 31, 2016 due to higher sales on account 
recorded. 
 
Other current assets decreased by 32%, from P 14.35 million as of December 31, 2015 to 
P 9.76 million as of December 31, 2016 due mostly to decrease in prepaid expenses and deferred 
input VAT for the year.  
 
Memorial lot inventories increased by 58%, from P 217.77 million as of December 31, 2015 to  
P 344.99 million as of December 31, 2016 due to active opening and expansion of Company 
projects. 
 
Property and equipment increased by 473%, from P 24.79 million as of December 31, 2015 to  
P 141.97 million as of December 31, 2016 due to the on-going construction of the Chapel and 
Crematorium amounting to P114.2 million classified as property, plant and equipment. 
 
Investment properties increased by 547%, from P 41.33 million as of December 31, 2015 to  
P 267.31 million as of December 31, 2016 due to the acquisitions of investment properties for 
expansion projects. 

 
Interest-bearing loans, including non-current portion, increased by P 491.30 million, from  
P 9.02 million as of December 31, 2015 to P 500.31 million as of December 31, 2016 mainly due 
to a loan obtained from a local bank during the year. 
 
Trade and other payables increased by 47% from P 234.22 million as of December 31, 2015 to  
P344.70 million as of December 31, 2016 due to increase in trade payables as part of the expansion 
program. 
 
Rawland payable increased by 540% from P30.02 million as of December 31, 2015 to P192.06 
million as of December 31, 2016 due to acquisition of land on account as part of the Company’s 
expansion roll out. 
 
Customers’ deposits increased by 92% from P 5.93 million as of December 31, 2015 to P 11.40 
million as of December 31, 2016 due to an increase in sales over the time period. 
 
Dividends payable decreased by 100% from P 650.00 million as of December 31, 2015 to nil as 
of December 31, 2016 due to full payment of the cash dividends in the second quarter of 2016. 
 
Income tax payable decreased by 25% from P 14.96 million as of December 31, 2015 to P 11.28 
million as of December 31, 2016 due to settlements for the year. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities (net) increased by 18% from P 255.98 million as of December 31, 2015 to  
P 301.89 million as of December 31, 2016 due to the increase in temporary difference during the 
year. 
 



Retirement benefit obligation of P0.08 million as of December 31, 2015 was reversed and was 
recorded as a retirement benefit asset of P0.05 million as of December 31, 2016 due to actuarial 
adjustments. 
 
Reserve for perpetual care increased by 30% from P 152.25 million as of December 31, 2015 to  
P198.26 million as of December 31, 2016 due to higher sales on account recorded for the period 
within which the fund for those sales are yet to be remitted to the trustee. 

 
Total stockholder’s equity increased by P 883.37 million, or 203%, from P 434.66 million as of 
December 31, 2015 to P 1,318.02 million as of December 31, 2016. This change was primarily due 
to the 2371% or P 474.19 million increase in capital stock, and the P 628.93 million increase in 
additional paid-in capital as part of the initial public offering, with the corresponding 53% or  
P 219.81 million decrease in retained earnings due to dividends declared.  

 
Material Changes to the Company’s Statement of income for the year ending 2016 compared to 
year ending 2015 (increase/decrease of 5% or more) 
 

Real estate sales increase by 19%, from P 650.80 million for year-end 2015 to P 772.08 million 
for year-end 2016 due to the increase of sales of columbarium vaults and memorial lots.\ 
 
Costs of sales and services grew by 13% from P 293.15 million in year-end 2015 to P 332.17 
million in year-end 2016 as a result of the higher sales and services rendered during the year. 
 
Other operating expenses for operations increased by 21%, from P 203.97 million in year-end 
2015 to P 247.67 million in year-end 2016. The increase was mainly due to an increase in salaries 
and wages, and prompt payment discount and commission. 
 
Other Income – net increased by 11%, from P 20.65 million in year-end 2015 to P 22.93 million 
in year-end 2016, due to a parallel increase in sales forfeitures and other fees normally brought 
about by the higher sales recorded for year-end 2016 compared to year-end 2015. 

 
Tax Expense increased by 19%, from P 65.22 million for year-end 2015 to P 77.46 million for 
year-end 2016 due to a higher taxable income base in year-end 2016 compared to the same period 
from previous year. 
 
Overall Net Profit grew by 19%, from P 151.12 million for year-end 2015 to P 180.22 million for 
year-end 2016 primarily due to higher sales recorded with the opening of expansion projects. 

 
There are no other material changes in the Company’s financial position (changes of 5% or more) and 
condition that will warrant a more detailed discussion. Further, there are no material events and 
uncertainties known to management that would impact or change reported financial information and 
condition on the Company. 
 
 
REVIEW OF YEAR END 2015 VS YEAR END 2014 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 

Revenues 
 
Real estate sales 
Real estate sales grew from P 555.44 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 to P 650.80 
million for the year ended December 31, 2015, representing an increase of 17%. The growth was 
primarily due to the increase in the sale of memorial park lots and columbarium vault for the year.  
 



Interment income 
Interment income grew to P 21.50 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 from P 19.70 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2014, representing an increase of 9%. This increase in interment 
income was mainly attributable to an increase in the number of services for the year. 
 
Interest income on contracts receivables 
Interest income on contract receivables increased by 5% to P 20.50 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2015 from P 19.59 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. The increase in 
interest income was primarily due to higher sales on account posted for the year. 
 
Costs and Expenses 
 
Cost of sales and services 
Cost of sales and services increased to P 293.15 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 from  
P 250.52 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, representing an increase of 17%. The increase 
in cost of sales and services was primarily attributable to increase in sales of memorial park lots and 
columbarium vaults for the year.  
 
Other operating expenses 
Other operating expenses increased to P 203.97 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 from  
P 150.57 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, representing an increase of 35%. This was 
mainly due to the following: 
 

Increase in salaries and wages from P 31.97 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, to 
P 44.71 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, due to additions to the Company’s 
manpower complement. 

 
Increase in commission from P 38.88 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, to  
P 50.58 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, due to higher sales for the year. 
 
Increase in promotions from P 13.17 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, to  
P 18.78 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, due to higher sales for the year. 

 
Other Income – net 
 
Other income – net increased to P 20.65 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 from  
P 12.85 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, representing an increase of 61%. The increase 
in other income was mainly attributable to the increase in forfeited sales for the year. 
 
Tax Expense 
 
Tax expense increased to P 65.22 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 from P 61.87 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2014, representing an increase of 5%. The increase in tax expense 
was mainly attributable to the higher tax base for the year.  
 
Net Income 
 
The foregoing factors resulted in an increase in net profit to P 151.12 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2015 from P 144.63 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, representing an 
increase of 5%. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2015, there were no seasonal aspects that had a material effect on 
the financial condition or results of operations of the Company. Neither were there any trends, events 
or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably expected to have a material impact on the net sales 



or revenues or income from continuing operations. The Company is not aware of events that will cause 
a material change in the relationship between the costs and revenues.  
 
There are no significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from the Company’s continuing 
operations. 
 

FINANCIAL CONDITION 
 
As of December 31, 2015 vs. December 31, 2014 
 
Total assets as of December 31, 2015 amounted to P 1,787.10 million compared to P 1,666.56 million as 
of December 31, 2014, representing a 7% increase.  This was due to the following: 

 
Cash and cash equivalents grew by 42% from P 80.66 million as of December 31, 2014 to  
P 114.64 million as of December 31, 2015, arising from higher cash generated from operations for 
the year. 
 
Total contracts receivable, including non-current, increased by 17% from P 1,087.85 million as of 
December 31, 2014 to P 1,274.09 million as of December 31, 2015, primarily due to increased 
sales on account of memorial park lots and columbarium niches for the year.   

 
Due from related parties decreased by 66% from P 206.90 million as of December 31, 2014 to  
P 70.21 million as of December 31, 2015, due to collections made during the year. 
 
Other receivables, mostly advances to suppliers for construction and development projects, 
increased by 266% from P 8.17 million as of December 31, 2014 to P 29.90 million as of 
December 31, 2015, due to the increase in launches of additional phases for the year. 
 
Memorial lot inventories – net increased by 6% from P 205.02 million as of December 31, 2014 
to P 217.77 million as of December 31, 2015, as a result of the launch of additional phases in the 
Company’s various projects for the year. 
 
Other current assets increased by 76% from P 8.16 million as of December 31, 2014 to P 14.35 
million as of December 31, 2015, due primarily to the increase in the Deferred Input VAT. 
 
Property and equipment – net increased by 8% from P 22.87 million as of December 31, 2014 to 
P 24.79 million as of December 31, 2015, attributable to acquisitions for the year. 
 
Investment properties decreased by 12% from P 46.92 million as of December 31, 2014 to  
P 41.33 million as of December 31, 2015, as a result of reclassification to memorial lot inventory 
due to the change in use and intention for the asset.  

 
Total liabilities as of December 31, 2015 amounted to P 1,352.44 million compared to P 582.95 million 
as of December 31, 2014, representing a 132% increase.  This was due to the following: 

 
Interest bearing loans, including non-current portion, amounted to P 9.02 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2015. The Company had no loans for the year ended December 31, 2014. 
 
Trade and other payables grew from P 217.93 million as of December 31, 2014 to P 264.24 
million as of December 31, 2015, a 21% increase, primarily on account of the increase in raw lands 
payable. 
 
Customers’ deposits decreased from P 7.13 million as of December 31, 2014 to P 5.93 million as 
of December 31, 2015, a 17% decrease, due to recognition to Revenue. 



 
Dividends payable amounted to P 650 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, representing 
cash dividends declared amounting to P 800 million net of the advances to the shareholders. 
 
Income tax payable increased by 252% from P 4.25 million as of December 31, 2014 to P 14.95 
million as of December 31, 2015, primarily due to the higher tax base. 
 
Retirement benefit obligations decreased by 69% from P 0.25 million as of December 31, 2014 
to P 0.08 million as of December 31, 2015, due to actuarial adjustment. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities – net increased by 17% from P 219.53 million as of December 31, 2014 to 
P 255.98 million as of December 31, 2015, due to the increase in the temporary differences 
resulting to a potential tax liability in the future. 
 
Reserve for perpetual care grew by 14% from P 133.86 million as of December 31, 2014 to  
P 152.25 million as of December 31, 2015, due to higher sales on account recorded for the year 
within which the fund for those sales are yet to be remitted to the trustee. 
 

Total stockholder’s equity decreased by 60%, from P 1,083.60 million as of December 31, 2014 to  
P 434.66 million as of December 31, 2015. This was primarily attributable to the decrease in retained 
earnings by 61% from P 1,066.08 million as of December 31, 2014 to P 417. 19 million as of December 
31, 2015, as a result of declaration of dividends. 

 
 
Considered as the top five key performance indicators of the Company for the period as shown below: 
 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 31-Dec-2015 31-Dec-2014 
Liquidity:       
    Current Ratio Current Assets/Current Liability 0.95 : 1 3.93 : 1 
Solvency:       
    Debt-to-Equity Ratio Total Liabilities/Total Equity 3.11 : 1 0.54 : 1 
Asset-to-equity:       
    Asset-to-Equity ratio Total Assets/Total Equity 4.11 : 1 1.54 : 1 
        

    
 31-Dec-2015 

Audited 
31-Dec-2014 

Audited  
Gross Margin 56.4% 56.4% 
Net Profit Margin    21.8% 24.3%  
Return on Equity 34.8%% 13.3% 

 
 
Material Changes to the Company’s Statement of Financial Position as of December 31, 2015 
compared to December 31, 2014 (increase/decrease of 5% or more) 

 
Cash and cash equivalents grew by 42% from P 80.66 million as of December 31, 2014 to  
P 114.64 million as of December 31, 2015, arising from higher cash generated from operations for 
the year. 
 
Total contracts receivable, including non-current, increased by 17% from P 1,087.85 million as of 
December 31, 2014 to P 1,274.09 million as of December 31, 2015, primarily due to increased 
sales on account of memorial park lots and columbarium niches for the year.   

 
Due from related parties decreased by 66% from P 206.90 million as of December 31, 2014 to  
P 70.21 million as of December 31, 2015, due to collections made during the year. 



 
Other receivables, mostly advances to suppliers for construction and development projects, 
increased by 266% from P 8.17 million as of December 31, 2014 to P 29.90 million as of 
December 31, 2015, due to the increase in launches of additional phases for the year. 
 
Memorial lot inventories – net increased by 6% from P 205.02 million as of December 31, 2014 
to P 217.77 million as of December 31, 2015, as a result of the launch of additional phases in the 
Company’s various projects for the year. 
 
Other current assets increased by 76% from P 8.16 million as of December 31, 2014 to P 14.35 
million as of December 31, 2015, due primarily to the increase in the Deferred Input VAT. 
 
Property and equipment – net increased by 8% from P 22.87 million as of December 31, 2014 to 
P 24.79 million as of December 31, 2015, attributable to acquisitions for the year. 
 
Investment properties decreased by 12% from P 46.92 million as of December 31, 2014 to  
P 41.33 million as of December 31, 2015, as a result of reclassification to memorial lot inventory 
due to the change in use and intention for the asset. 
 
Interest bearing loans, including non-current portion, amounted to P 9.02 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2015. The Company had no loans for the year ended December 31, 2014. 
 
Trade and other payables grew from P 217.93 million as of December 31, 2014 to P 264.24 
million as of December 31, 2015, a 21% increase, primarily on account of the increase in raw lands 
payable. 
 
Customers’ deposits decreased from P 7.13 million as of December 31, 2014 to P 5.93 million as 
of December 31, 2015, a 17% decrease, due to recognition to Revenue. 
 
Dividends payable amounted to P 650 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, representing 
cash dividends declared amounting to P 800 million net of the advances to the shareholders. 
 
Income tax payable increased by 252% from P 4.25 million as of December 31, 2014 to P 14.95 
million as of December 31, 2015, primarily due to the higher tax base. 
 
Retirement benefit obligations decreased by 69% from P 0.25 million as of December 31, 2014 
to P 0.08 million as of December 31, 2015, due to actuarial adjustment. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities – net increased by 17% from P 219.53 million as of December 31, 2014 to 
P 255.98 million as of December 31, 2015, due to the increase in the temporary differences 
resulting to a potential tax liability in the future. 
 
Reserve for perpetual care grew by 14% from P 133.86 million as of December 31, 2014 to  
P 152.25 million as of December 31, 2015, due to higher sales on account recorded for the year 
within which the fund for those sales are yet to be remitted to the trustee. 
 
Total stockholder’s equity decreased by 60%, from P 1,083.60 million as of December 31, 2014 
to P 434.66 million as of December 31, 2015, primarily attributable to the declaration of dividends. 
 

Material Changes to the Company’s Statement of income for the year ending December 31, 2015 
compared to the year ending December 31, 2014 (increase/decrease of 5% or more) 

 



Real estate sales grew from P 555.44 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 to P 650.80 
million for the year ended December 31, 2015, representing an increase of 17%, primarily due to 
the increase in the sale of memorial park lots and columbarium vault for the year.  
 
Interment income grew to P 21.50 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 from P 19.70 
million for the year ended December 31, 2014, representing an increase of 9%, mainly attributable 
to an increase in the number of services for the year. 

 
Interest income on contract receivables increased by 5% to P 20.50 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2015 from P 19.59 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, primarily due to 
higher sales on account posted for the year. 
 
Cost of sales and services increased to P 293.15 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 
from P 250.52 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, representing an increase of 17%, 
primarily attributable to increase in sales of memorial park lots and columbarium vaults for the 
year.  
 
Other operating expenses increased to P 203.97 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 
from P 150.57 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, representing an increase of 35%, 
due mainly in an increase in salaries and wages, commissions and promotions. 

 
Other income – net increased to P 20.65 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 from  
P 12.85 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, representing an increase of 61%, mainly 
attributable to the increase in forfeited sales for the year. 

 
Tax expense increased to P 65.22 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 from P 61.87 
million for the year ended December 31, 2014, representing an increase of 5%, mainly attributable 
to the higher tax base for the year. 

 
There are no other material changes in the Company’s financial position (changes of 5% or more) and 
condition that will warrant a more detailed discussion. Further, there are no material events and 
uncertainties known to management that would impact or change reported financial information and 
condition on the Company. 
 
Factors which may have material impact in Company’s operations 
 
Economic factors 
The economic situation in the Philippines significantly affects the performance of the Company’s business.  
For the residential products, the Company is sensitive to changes in domestic interest and inflation rates.  
Higher interest rates tend to discourage potential consumers as deferred payment schemes become more 
expensive for them to maintain.  An inflationary environment will adversely affect the Company, as well as 
other memorial park developers, by increases in costs such as land acquisition, labor, and materials.  
Although the Company may pass on the additional costs to buyers, there is no assurance that this will not 
significantly affect the Company’s sales. 
 
Competition 
 
Please refer to the discussion on Competition found in Item 1 of this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Capital Expenditures 
The table below sets out the Company's capital expenditures in 2014, 2015 and 2016 together with its 
budgeted capital expenditures for 2017. 
 

 Expenditure 
 (in P millions) 
2014 (actual) 13.55 
2015 (actual) 9.63 
2016 (actual)  599.32 
2017 (budgeted)  575.00 

The Company’s capital expenditures have, in the past, been financed by internal funds.  During the year the 
Company raised funds from its IPO which will also be used to fund capital expenditures..  

Components of the Company's capital expenditures for 2014, 2015 and 2016 are summarized below: 
 

 For the years ended December 31, 

 2014 2015 2016 
 (in P millions) 
Land acquisition  - 2.01 62.50 
Memorial park development - - 243.68 
Memorial chapel construction - - 114.21 
Property and equipment  13.55 7.62 15.46 
Total 13.55 9.63 435.85 

 *including Starmalls, Inc., a newly acquired subsidiary. 

The Company has budgeted P=575.00 million for capital expenditures for 2017. The planned capital 
expenditures for 2017 are summarized below:  

 Expenditures 
Capital Projects (in P millions) 
Land acquisition 250.00 
Memorial park development 100.00 
Memorial chapel construction 150.00 
Property and equipment 75.00 
Total 575.00 

 
The figures in the foregoing capital expenditure plans are based on the Company’s management’s estimates 
and have not been appraised by an independent organization.  In addition, these capital expenditure plans 
are subject to a number of variables, including: possible cost overruns; construction/development delays; 
the receipt of environmental and other regulatory approvals; changes in management’s views of the 
desirability of current plans; the identification of new projects; and macroeconomic factors such as the 
Philippines’ economic performance and interest rates.  There can be no assurance that the Company will 
execute the foregoing capital expenditure plans as contemplated at or below estimated costs. 
 
 
Item 7.  Financial Statements 
 
The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016 
are incorporated herein in the accompanying Index to Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules. 
 
 
 
 
 



Item 8.  Information on Independent Accountant and Other Related Matters 

Independent Public Accountants 

Punongbayan & Araullo, independent certified public accountants, audited the Company's consolidated 
financial statements without qualification as of and for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2015, and 2016, 
included in this report. 

Punongbayan & Araullo has acted as the Company's external auditors since June 15, 2015. Nelson J. Dinio 
is the current audit partner for the Company and the other subsidiaries. The Company has not had any 
disagreements on accounting and financial disclosures with its current external auditors for the same periods 
or any subsequent interim period. Punongbayan & Araullo has neither shareholdings in the Company nor 
any right, whether legally enforceable or not, to nominate persons or to subscribe for the securities in the 
Company. Punongbayan & Araullo will not receive any direct or indirect interest in the Company or in any 
securities thereof (including options, warrants or rights thereto) pursuant to or in connection with the Offer. 
The foregoing is in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines set 
by the Board of Accountancy and approved by the Professional Regulation Commission. 

In relation to the audit of the Company's annual financial statements, the Company's Corporate 
Governance Manual provides that the audit committee shall, among other activities (i) evaluate significant 
issues reported by the external auditors in relation to the adequacy, efficiency and effectiveness of policies, 
controls, processes and activities of the Company; (ii) ensure that other non-audit work provided by the 
external auditors are not in conflict with their functions as external auditors; and (iii) ensure the compliance 
of the Company with acceptable auditing and accounting standards and regulations. 

The following table sets out the aggregate fees billed for each of the last two years for professional services 
rendered by Punongbayan & Araullo: 
 

 2015 2016 
Audit and Audit-Related Fees:   

Fees for services that are normally provided by the external 
auditor in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or 
engagements 

P 1,250,000.001 P 450,000.00

All other fees - 
Total P 1,250,000.00 P 450,000.00

1Audit fee of Punongbayan & Araullo for the restatement of prior-year financial statements 
 
Changes in and Disagreement with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 
 
Since the incorporation of the Registrant in 1982, there was no instance where the Registrant’s public 
accountants resigned or indicated that they decline to stand for re-election or were dismissed nor was 
there any instance where the Registrant had any disagreement with its public accountants on any 
accounting or financial disclosure issue.  

 

The 2016 audit of the Registrant is in compliance with paragraph (3)(b)(iv) of SRC Rule 68, as amended, 
which provides that the external auditor should be rotated, or the handling partner changed, every five (5) 
years or earlier.  

For Changes in Accounting Policies, refer to Note 2 – Adoption of New and Amended PFRS under 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies discussion on the Financial Statements as of and for the year 
ended December 31, 2016 included in this report. 

 

 
  



PART III – CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 

Item 9.  Directors and Executive Officers of the Issuer 

Board of Directors and Executive Officers 

The overall management and supervision of the Company is undertaken by its Board. The Company's 
executive officers and management team cooperate with the Board by preparing appropriate information 
and documents concerning the Company's business operations, financial condition and results of 
operations for its review. Currently, the Board consists of seven members, of which two are independent 
directors. The following are the names, ages and citizenship of the incumbent directors/independent 
directors of the Registrant: 

Name Age Position Citizenship
Jerry M. Navarrete 62 Director, Chairman of the Board and President Filipino 
Maribeth C. Tolentino 51 Director and Chief Operating Officer Filipino 
Joy J. Fernandez 51 Director and Treasurer Filipino 
Frances Rosalie T. Coloma 54   Director Filipino
Cynthia Marie S. Delfin 55 Director Filipino
Ana Marie V. Pagsibigan 47 Independent Director Filipino
Garth F. Castañeda 35 Independent Director Filipino
 

The following are the names, ages and citizenship of the Registrant’s executive officers in addition to its 
executive and independent directors listed above as of December 31, 2016. 

 
Name Age Position Citizenship
Roy Joseph S. Fernandez 50 Chief Financial Officer and Chief Information Officer Filipino 
Timothy Joseph M. Mendoza 35 Corporate Secretary Filipino 
Mark Aurelio B. Dantes 30 Investor Relations Officer Filipino 

The following states the business experience of the incumbent directors and officers of the Registrant for 
the last five (5) years: 
 
JERRY M. NAVARRETE, Director, Chairman of the Board and President. Mr. Navarrete graduated from the 
Lyceum of the Philippines with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics and from Ateneo de Manila University 
with a Master’s degree in Business Administration. He previously worked as research analyst with Aguilar 
Shipping for one year and was the General Manager of the Company from 1984 until 1987. Mr. Navarrete 
has been with the Villar Group of Companies for more than 35 years and currently serves as the President 
of Starmalls, Inc. and Fine Properties, Inc. He has been the President of the Company since January 2016. 
 
JOY J. FERNANDEZ, Director and Treasurer. Ms. Fernandez graduated from the Central Philippine 
University with a Bachelor’s degree in Commerce and from the Royal Melbourne Institution of Technology 
as a chartered accountant associate. She previously served as the Comptroller of the Company from 
October 2009 until June 2015. Ms. Fernandez currently serves as the Chief Operating Officer of MGS 
Construction, Inc. and has been the Treasurer of the Company since June 2015. 
 
FRANCES ROSALIE T. COLOMA, Director, graduated cum laude from the University of the 
Philippines with a Bachelor of Science degree in Business Administration and Accountancy. She is a 
Certified Public Accountant. She worked as Finance Manager of Alcatel Philippines Inc. and Intel 
Philippines, Inc., Country Controller of Ericsson Telecommunications Philippines Inc., and Deal Finance 
Manager of Accenture Delivery Center, Philippines. She was also the Assistant General Manager of Maersk 
Global Services, Philippines, and is currently the Chief Financial Officer of the Starmalls group. Ms. Coloma 
has been a director of the Company since July 2016.  
 
MARIBETH C. TOLENTINO, Director and Chief Operations Officer. Ms. Tolentino is a Certified Public 
Accountant and graduated from the University of the East with a Bachelor’s degree in Business 
Administration. She previously served as the General Manager of the Company from 1999 to 2005. Ms. 



Tolentino currently serves as the President of Vista Residences, Inc., Camella Homes, Inc. and Household 
Development Corporation and as director of Vista Land & Lifescapes, Inc., Vista Residences, Inc. and 
Camella Homes, Inc. Ms. Tolentino was appointed Chief Operations Officer of the Company in February 
2016. 
 
CYNTHIA MARIE S. DELFIN, Director. Ms. Delfin graduated magna cum laude from the University 
of the Philippines Los Baños with a Bachelor’s degree in Agribusiness. She holds a Master’s degree in 
Business Management from the Asian Institute of Management. She has been with the Villar Group of 
Companies for 12 years and currently serves as the head of business development for Fine Properties, Inc. 
Ms. Delfin has been a director of the company since July 2016. 
 
ANA MARIE V. PAGSIBIGAN, Independent Director. Atty. Pagsibigan graduated from the University of 
the Philippines with a Bachelor’s degree in History and from San Sebastian College with a Bachelor’s degree 
in Law. She previously served as a director and the legal counsel of Great Domestic Insurance. She is 
currently the legal counsel to SEDAS Security Specialists. Atty. Pagsibigan was appointed as independent 
director of the Company on May 2016. 
 
GARTH F. CASTANEDA, Independent Director. Atty. Castaneda graduated from the University of Sto. 
Tomas with a Bachelor’s degree in Accountancy and from the University of the Philippines with a 
Bachelor’s degree in Law. He previously served as a consultant of the Privatization Management Office. 
He is currently a partner at SYMECS Law and serves as a director and the Corporate Secretary of each of 
Phoenix Solar Philippines, Inc. and Communications Wireless Group (Philippines), Inc. Atty. Castaneda 
was appointed as independent director of the Company on May 2016. 
 
ROY JOSEPH S. FERNANDEZ, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Information Officer. Mr. Fernandez is a 
Certified Public Accountant and graduated from the De la Salle University with a Bachelor’s degree in 
Accounting and from Asian Institute of Management with a Master’s degree in Business Administration. 
He previously served as the General Manager of Brittany Corporation and eBusiness Services, Inc. and the 
Operations Director of Western Union Financial Services (HK) Ltd. He currently serves as the Head of 
Operations of All Home Corporation and has been the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Information 
Officer of the Company since March 2016. 
 
TIMOTHY JOSEPH M. MENDOZA, Corporate Secretary. Atty. Mendoza graduated from Ateneo de 
Manila University with a Bachelor’s degree in Political Science and from the University of the Philippines 
with a Bachelors of Laws degree. He is currently a partner at the Picazo Buyco Tan Fider & Santos Law 
Offices and serves as the Corporate Secretary of San Carlos Solar Energy, Inc. and Negros Island Solar 
Power, Inc. Atty. Mendoza was appointed as the Company’s Corporate Secretary in February 2016.  
 
MARK AURELIO B. DANTES, Investor Relations Officer. Mr. Dantes graduated from the University of 
the Philippines with a Bachelor’s degree in Journalism. He holds a Master’s degree in Business 
Administration from the National University of Singapore. Mr. Dantes was appointed as Investor Relations 
Officer of the Company on 1 October 2015. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Dantes was a Brand 
Manager (2011-2012) and Director for Business Development (2014-2015) of Property Company of 
Friends, Inc. He was also an Accounts Manager at DM9 Jayme Syfu in 2011, and was an Assistant Manager 
at Rockwell Land Corp. from 2009-2011. 
 
Family relationships 
To the best knowledge of the Company, none of its directors and executive officers, or persons 
nominated to such positions, is related to the others by consanguinity or affinity within the fourth civil 
degree.    

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings of Directors and Executive Officers 
 
To the best knowledge of the Company, none of its present directors, executive officers or its nominees 
for independent directors has been subject to the following:  



Any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of which such person was a general partner 
or executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or within two years prior to that time; 
 
Any conviction by final judgment, including the nature of the offense, in a criminal proceeding, 
domestic or foreign, excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses; 
 
Any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of 
competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, 
suspending or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of business, securities, commodities 
or banking activities; 
 
Being found by a domestic or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC 
or comparable foreign body, or a domestic or foreign Exchange or other organized trading market 
or self-regulatory organization, to have violated a securities or commodities law or regulation and 
the judgment has not been reversed, suspended, or vacated. 

 
Item 10.  Executive Compensation 
 
Executive Compensation  

The compensation for its executive officers for the years 2015, 2016 (actual), and 2017 (projected) are 
shown below: 
 

Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Others
 
Jerry M. Navarette* 
 
Maribeth C. 
Tolentino* 
 
Roy Joseph S. 
Fernandez* 
 
 
Karlo G. Magpayo 
 
Miles M. Teretit* 
 
 
Aggregate 
executive 
compensation for 
above named 
officers 
 
 
Aggregate 
executive 
compensation of all 
other officers and 
directors, unnamed 

 
Chairman & President 
 
Chief Operating 
Officer 
 
Chief Financial Officer 
/ Chief Information 
Officer 
 
General Manager 
 
Chief Accountant 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Actual 2015 
 
Actual 2016  
 
Projected 2017 
 
 
Actual 2015 
 
Actual 2016 
 
Projected 2017 

 
P8.36M

P9.80M

P11.76M

P7.60M

P9.80M

P11.76M

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
P1.48M 

 
P1.73M 

 
P2.08M 

 
 

P1.34M 
 

P1.73M 
 

P2.08M 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
None 
 
None 
 
None 
 
 
None 
 
None 
 
None 

* Appointed in 2016, compensation not included in 2015 



Standard arrangements 

Each director of the Company receives a per diem of P=10,000 determined by the Board of Directors for 
attendance in a Board meeting and a P=10,000 allowance for attendance in a committee meeting (except for 
independent directors). 

Other arrangements 

Except for each of the individual Directors’ participation in the Board, no Director of the Company enjoys 
other arrangements such as consulting contracts or similar arrangements. 

Employment contract between the company and executive officers 

There are no special employment contracts between the Company and the named executive officers. 

Warrants and options held by the executive officers and directors 

There are no outstanding warrants or options held by the Company’s CEO, the named executive officers, 
and all officers and directors as a group. 
 
Significant employee 
 
While the Company values the contribution of each of its executive and non-executive employees, the 
Company believes there is no non-executive employee that the resignation or loss of whom would have a 
material adverse impact on the business of the Company. Other than standard employment contracts, there 
are no special arrangements with non-executive employees of the Company. 
 
  



Item 11.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 

Security Ownership of Record and Beneficial Owners 

Security ownership of certain record and beneficial owners of more than 5.0% of the Registrant’s voting 
securities as of December 31, 2016: 

 

Title of 
Class of 

Securities 

Name/Address of 
Record Owners and 
Relationship with Us 

Name of 
Beneficial Owner

/Relationship 
with Record 

Owner Citizenship
No. of 

Shares Held 
% of 

Ownership1

 
Common 

 
PCD Nominee Corporation 
37/F Tower 1, The 
Enterprise Ctr. 6766 Ayala 
Ave. cor. Paseo de Roxas, 
Makati City 
Shareholder 

 
Fine Properties, 
Inc./ Record 
Owner is not the 
beneficial owner2 

 
Filipino 

 
412,057,800 

 
83.39% 

 
Common 

 
PCD Nominee Corporation 
37/F Tower 1, The 
Enterprise Ctr. 
6766 Ayala Ave. cor. Paseo 
de Roxas, 
Makati City 
Shareholder 

 
Record Owner is 
not the beneficial 
owner3 

 
Filipino 

 
74,077,647 

 
14.99% 

     
 
  

1 Based on the Company’s total issued and outstanding capital stocks as of December 31, 2016 of 494,117,649 common shares.  
2 Mr. Manuel B. Villar, Jr. and his spouse are the controlling shareholders of Fine Properties, Inc. The right to vote the shares held 
by Fine Properties, Inc. has in the past been, and is expected to be exercised by either Mr. Villar or Mr. Jerry M. Navarrete. 
3 PCD Nominee Corporation is the registered owner of shares beneficially owned by participants in the Philippine Depository & 
Trust Corporation, a private company organized to implement an automated book entry system of handling securities transactions 
in the Philippines (PCD).  Under the PCD procedures, when an issuer of a PCD-eligible issue will hold a stockholders’ meeting, 
the PCD shall execute a pro-forma proxy in favor of its participants for the total number of shares in their respective principal 
securities account as well as for the total number of shares in their client securities account.  For the shares held in the principal 
securities account, the participant concerned is appointed as proxy with full voting rights and powers as registered owner of such 
shares.  For the shares held in the client securities account, the participant concerned is appointed as proxy, with the obligation to 
constitute a sub-proxy in favor of its clients with full voting and other rights for the number of shares beneficially owned by such 
clients.   Except as indicated above, as of Record Date, the Registrant is not aware of any investor beneficially owning shares lodged 
with the PCD, which comprise more than five percent (5%) of the Registrant’s total outstanding capital stock. 



Security ownership of directors and executive officers as of December 31, 2016: 
 

Title of class Name of beneficial owner 
Amount and nature of 
beneficial ownership  Citizenship 

Percent of 
Class1 

 
Common 

 
Jerry M. Navarette 
No. 333 Sineguelasan 
Bacoor, Cavite 

 
2,835,000

 
Indirect 

 
Filipino 

 
0.57% 

 
Common 

 
Maribeth C. Tolentino 
Block 1 Lot 2 Merida 
Subdivision BF Resort 
Village, 
Talon, Las Piñas City 

 
2,835,000

 
Indirect  

 
Filipino 

 
0.57% 

 

 
Common 

 
Joy J. Fernandez 
Block 11 Lot 3 Joshua St, 
Camella Las Piñas Classic 
Pilar, Las Piñas City 

 
2,268,000

 
Indirect 

 
Filipino 

 
0.46% 

 
Common 

 
Frances Rosalie T. Coloma 
1-10 Granwood Villas BF 
Homes, Quezon City 

 
500

 
Indirect 

 
Filipino 

 
0.00% 

 
Common 

 
Cynthia Marie S. Delfin 
16D Goldland Tower, #10 
Eisenhower St., Greenhills, 
San Juan City 

 
500

 
Indirect 

 
Filipino 

 
0.00% 

 
Common 

 
 

 
Anna Marie V. Pagsibigan 
21 Matungao Bulacan, 
Bulacan 

 
1

 
Indirect 

 
Filipino 

 
0.00% 

Common Garth F. Castañeda 
Unit 802, The Amaryllis 
Condominium 12th Street cor. 
E. Rodriguez Ave.  
Quezon City 

1 Indirect Filipino 0.00% 

Total  7,939,002   1.60% 

 
1 Based on the Company’s total outstanding and issued capital stocks of 494,117,649 common shares as of December 31, 
2016 
 
Except as indicated in the above table, the above named officers have no indirect beneficial ownership in 
the registrant. 
 
Except as aforementioned, no other officers of the Registrant hold, directly or indirectly, shares in the 
Registrant. 



Voting Trust Holders of 5.0% or More 

The Registrant is not aware of any person holding more than 5.0% of a class of shares under a voting trust 
or similar agreement. 
 
Changes in Control 
 
The Registrant is not aware of any arrangements, which may result in a change in control of the Registrant.  
No change in control of the Registrant has occurred since the beginning of its last fiscal year.  
 
 
Item 12.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

The Company, in the ordinary course of its business, engages in transactions with related parties. The 
Company’s policy with respect to related party transactions is to ensure that these transactions are entered 
into on terms comparable to those available from unrelated third parties. 

For further information on the Company’s related party transactions, including detailed breakdowns of 
amounts receivable from and amounts payable related to parties, see Note 16 of the Company’s financial 
statements as of December 31, 2016 included in this report.  
 
  



PART IV – CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Item 13.  To be disclosed separately. 
 
 
  



PART V – EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 

Item 14.  Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form 17 – C 

 
Exhibits 
 
See accompanying Index to Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules. 
 
The following exhibit is incorporated by reference in this report: 
 
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016. 
 
The other exhibits, as indicated in the Index to Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules are 
either not applicable to the Company or require no answer. 
 
Reports on SEC Form 17-C 
 
The following current reports have been reported by Golden Haven during the year 2016 through official 
disclosure letters dated: 
 
July 29, 2016 
Resignation/Election of Directors or Officers 
 
August 15, 2016 
BOD Meeting Resolution 
 
October 14, 2016 
Quarterly Report on Application of Proceeds 
 
November 14, 2016 
BOD Meeting Resolution 
 
Reports on SEC Form 17-C, as amended (during the last 6 months) 
 
None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





GOLDEN HAVEN MEMORIAL PARK, INC 

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES 

Form 17-A, Item 7 
 
 

Consolidated Financial Statements 
  
Statement of Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements  
Report of Independent Public Accountant  
Report of Independent Auditors on Supplementary Schedules  
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2014, 2015, and 2016  
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2015, and 2016 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

 
 
 

Supplementary Schedules 
   
A. Financial Assets N/A 
B. Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties and Principal 

Stockholders (Other than Related Parties) 
2 

C. Amounts Receivable from Related Parties which are eliminated during the 
consolidation of financial assets 

N/A 

D. Intangible Assets - Other Assets  N/A 
E. Long-term Debt 3 
F. Indebtedness to Related Parties (Long-term Loans from Related              

Companies) 
4 

G. Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers N/A 
H. Capital Stock 5 

Others 
   
 Reconciliation of Retained Earnings (SEC Circular 11) 6 
 Schedule of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations Adopted 

by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 
2 

 Financial Reporting Standards Council as of December 31, 2016 7-10 





C O V E R    S H E E T 
for 

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

SEC Registration Number 
1 0 8 2 7 0      

C O M P A N Y   N A M E 

G O L D E N  H A V E N  M E M O R I A L          

P A R K ,  I N C .                     

                              

                              

PRINCIPAL OFFICE ( No. / Street / Barangay / City / Town / Province ) 

S A N  E Z E K I E L , C 5  E X T E N S I O N ,      

L A S  P I Ñ A S  C I T Y                 

                              

                              
 

Form Type    Department requiring the report    Secondary License Type, If Applicable 

  A A F S                         

 
C O M P A N Y   I N F O R M A T I O N 

 Company’s Email Address  Company’s Telephone Number  Mobile Number  

   873-2922  N/A  
 

 No. of Stockholders  Annual Meeting (Month / Day)  Fiscal Year (Month / Day)  

 14  First Saturday of April  12/31  
 

CONTACT PERSON INFORMATION 

The designated contact person MUST be an Officer of the Corporation 

Name of Contact Person  Email Address  Telephone Number/s  Mobile Number 

Roy Joseph S. Fernandez  roy_fernandez@goldenhave
n.com.ph 

 873-2922  0917-823-8420 

 
CONTACT PERSON’s ADDRESS 

 

San Ezekiel, C5 Extension, Las Piñas City, Philippines 
NOTE 1 :   In case of death, resignation or cessation of office of the officer designated as contact person, such incident shall be reported to the Commission 
within thirty (30) calendar days from the occurrence thereof with information and complete contact details of the new contact person designated. 
 2 :   All Boxes must be properly and completely filled-up.  Failure to do so shall cause the delay in updating the corporation’s records with 
the Commission and/or non-receipt of Notice of Deficiencies.  Further, non-receipt of Notice of Deficiencies shall not excuse the corporation from liability for its 
deficiencies. 









































































































































2016 2015 2014
Liquidity:
    Current Ratio Current Assets/Current Liability 2.65 0.95 3.93
Solvency:
    Debt-to-Equity Ratio Total interest-bearing loans/Total Equity 0.38 0.02 0.56
Asset-to-equity:
    Asset-to-Equity ratio Total Assets/Total Equity 2.18 4.11 1.54

2016 2015 2014
Interest-rate-coverage:
    Interest-rate-coverage ratio Profit Before Tax/Finance Costs 35.75 140.64 NA*
Profitability:
    Return-on-investment Net Income/Average Capital Stock 70.11% 755.58% 723.14%

*The Company has no interet bearing loans in 2014.

Golden Haven Memorial Park, Inc.
Summary of Financial Soundness Indicators

As at December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014



 
 

Golden Haven Memorial Park, Inc. 
Map of Related Parties 
December 31, 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Fine Properties, Inc.  
(Ultimate Parent)

Golden Haven Memorial 
Park, Inc. (83.39%)

Vista Land & Lifescapes, 
Inc. (67.28%)


